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Highlights

200/

Profits attributable to sharehiclders of
£1.741M compared tolosses of £3.0616M for
the 12 months to 31 December 2006.

During the year [and, buildings and related
equipment at Carrongrove were sold fora
consideration exceeding £11.0M.

.

Operating losses of £2,357M were recorded
as compared to £2,596M in 2006, Margins
remained under pressure throughout the
period notwithstanding a volume increase of
8% in respect of tonnage sold.

-

These figures are stated before recognition
of any surplus which may arise from the
future disposal of the Company's land assets.

« Net debt has failen by 54% to £5.873M
compared to £12.753M as at
31 December 2006.

R&D has resulted in two new product
lines being prepared for market
commercialisation both of which are the
subject of world-wide patent applications.

« Successful penetration of the Asian markets
for our internationally renowned artist

Shareholders’ funds increased to £10611M as
compared to £7.760M as at 31 December 2006.

Inveresk presents its Annual
Results for the 12 months
ended 31 December 2007.

papers brands with sales into new markets
including China and Karea, and revitalised
markets in Japan, India, Hong Kong and
Singapore,

- Continued investigation of options available
50 as to realign our paper making activities
with our chosen alternative strategy of
enhancing sharehaolder value through the
development of our land portfolio.

Post Balance Sheet Events

« On1)uly 2008 the closure of PM1at St
Cuthberts was announced, to stem operating
losses, in favour of a potential Joint Venture
with Chinese paper manufacturers.

- Successful renegotiation of banking facilities
with HBOS following the recapitalisation
of the bank together with support from a
number of existing shareholders,

+ Independent valuations carried out in
April and October 2008 over the Company’s
freehold brownfield sites in the range
of £22M to £25M subject to receipt of
appropriate planning consents,
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Chairman’s
Statement

Overview

The financial year to 31 December 2007 again
has seen a continuation of the theme to
which | have referred in my last three annuzl
reports, namely, a European paper industry
facing considerable challenges with pressure
on profit margins and steeply rising costs. In
all sectors of the paper industry, whether in
the UK or Continental Europe, the principal
talking points concern retention of market
share through margin erasion, increasesin
raw material costs and the massive impact of
spiraling energy costs in an industry where
continuous production is so heavily dependent
upon the use of gas, water, electricity and
transportation.

Whilst no one could have anticipated the
extent to which energy costs have soared
during 2007 and most of 2008, shareholders

will recognise that your Board understood

back in June 2005 that the prospects for the
industry as a whaole were not good and that
rather than follow our competitors into large
scale investment programmes we realised the
need for consolidation within the industry by
selling our highly respected international brand
“Gemini”, formerly produced at the Carrongrove
Millin Stirlingshire, together with the plant,
equipment, fand and buildings for alittle under
£2o6M, most of which was used to significantly
reduce bank indebtedness. In addition to

this we retain a carried interest in the future
development prospects at Carrongrove, as

well as additional consideration which is

now long overdue to be paid by Tullis Russell
Papermakers Ltd who acquired the Gemini
brand and which is the subject of Court
proceedings to which i refer below.
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Qur paper activities at the end of 2007 were
confined to the core spetialist operations

at st Cuthberts Mill in Somerset where we
produced pre-impregnated foil based papers
{PIP) for the furniture and décor markets, as
well as our respected international brands
of artist and inkjet papers to which we refer
in our Operating and Financial Review. Over
many years this mill has suffered from a
lack of financial investment on new plant
and equipment whilst those with whom we
compete have invested heavily. Ironically
and most disturbingly as greater capacity
has emerged in Europe demand has fallen
sharply and margins on PIP have declined by
up to 50% over a three year period. Whereas
traditionally this highly technical niche sector
within the paper industry has justified high
and sustainable margins for many years we
were increasingly finding that orders were
the subject of “spot” market tenders as
prices became commaoditised and product
differentiation went unrewarded,

Your Board had chosen not toinvest in such

a tightly configured speciatised niche market
where further consolidation is inevitable and
where increasingly it is not possible to obtain
satisfactory levels of return on capital As an
alternative strategy your Board had chosen

to engage in widespread discussion with
potential international partners who had
under-utilised plant and equipment as well as
ambition to grow their presence in this market
where product innovation as well as technicai
expertise is sought after by discerning
customers. | refer further to the cutcome of
these discussions under Notes 1and 4 of “Post
Balance Sheet Events”,
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As all shareholders know we are living in

very unusual and difficuit times which have
resulted in your Board taking decisive action in
a number of areas which | refer to later in my
statement under “Post Balance Sheet Events”.

Results

For the first time our annual results are prepared
in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
EU (“adopted IFRSs™). The date of transition to the
adopted IFRSs is 1 January 2006 and accordingly
comparative figures for the year ended 31
December 2006 have been restated under
adopted IFRSs. Explanaticns of the effects of

the transition are included in the accompanying
notes to the Financial Statements.

The operating resuits for the year ended 31
December 2007 continue to disappoint with
turnover of £12.951M (2006 - £13304M), a
decline of 2.7% notwithstanding an increase of
8.0% in the number of tonnes sold in the year.
Operating losses were £2,357M compared to
losses of £2.596M in 2006.

As a result of the realisations arising from the
sale of land, buildings, plant and equipment

at Carrongrove, profits from discontinued
operations of €4.054M were recorded {2006

- loss £1.296M) resulting in a profit after
discontinued operations and income tax for the
year of £1741M attributable to shareholders
compared to aloss of £3.016M in 2006,

The Consolidated Balance Sheet shows
improved shareholders’ funds of £10.611M
compared to £7.760M in 2006 befare
recognising any surplus which may arise from
the disposal of the Company’s land portfolio

whichitis anticipated will be developed at
some stage in the future,

Net debt has fallen by 54% to £5.873M as
compared to £12,753M as at 31 December
2006 1t remains one of your Board’s foremost
business objectives to eliminate all debt from
the Group’s balance sheet.

Asset Realisation Programme
All plant and equipment at the Carrongrove
site has been sold to a range of buyers, As
regards the Company’s other plant and
equipment, there are a number of strategic
options under consideration which would
allow certain products to be produced in lower
cost countries now that operating costsin
the United Kingdom have risen to an all time
high thereby having a negative effect on the
Company’s ability to be competitive,

Land for Future Development
Inverkeithing

Shareholders have been aware for some
considerable time that we have chosen to
opt for an alternative strategy which exploits
the intrinsic value of our brownfield sites

in preference to remaining as a long term
player in the manufacture of paper. The 18
acresite on the edge of the River Forth at
tnverkeithing opposite Edinburgh offers
development potential on alarge scale. The
formation of a new Government following
the elections in Scotland has served to

delay Fife Councif’s ambitious plans for the
regeneration of the entire area surrounding
Inverkeithing Bay. Together with our advisers
we continue to investigate alternative uses
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// Chairman’s Statement

for this land including commercial and
residential opporturities which will progress
to detailed planning applications in due
course. We continue to work with Fife Council
in the expectation that our land will play a
pivotal role in the anticipated transformation
of the entrance to the Kingdom of Fife with
consequential improvements to the local
community and environment. | refer below
under Note 2 of “Post Balance Sheet Events®
to the underlying value of both this and our St
Cuthberts Mill site.

St Cuthberts, Wells

This site extends to approximately 40 acres and
is located only a few short miles to the south
of the charming City of Wells in Somerset. As

in the case of Inverkeithing our advisers have
been investigating with the Local Authority
ways and means of developing alternative
uses for much of the land which is surplus to
our every day requirements.

Notwithstanding the recent sharp decline

in the UK housing market and the hopefully
short-term problems facing house builders
there appears to be a shortage of quality
mixed use developmentin the areaand as

in the case with Falkirk District, in which

our Carrongrove site was located, positive
dialogue has been entered into with Mendip
Council in Somerset regarding the medium to
longer term development of this land as and
when it becomes available and we cease paper
manufacture on the site. Creative schemes
are under critical review and will be studied
in parallel with our commercial discussions
as tothe short term future of our two
manufacturing businesses,

Additional Consideration
Shareholders will recall that the sale of the
Gemini brand back in 2005 together with the
provision of services for £13M entitled your
Company to additional cansideration over the
subsequent 12 month period commencing on
8 November 2005 in respect of the amount of
tonnage of Gemini ordered, produced and sold
by Tullis Russell Papermakers Ltd as acquirers
of the brand. Regrettably having certified

the final tonnage figures given by them to
Inveresk over each of the twelve months, Tullis
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Russell defaulted when required to make
payment of the consideration which fell due
and this matter has been referred to the Court
of Session in Edinburgh for resoltution. On

15 February 2008 the Court ruled strongly in
favour of inveresk which decision Tullis Russell
declined to accept. On 3 June 2008 the matter
reached the Court of Appeal where Tullis
Russell complained that the Judge had gone
too farin his judgement and as a consequence
the case was referred by the Appeal Court for a
second time to the Lower Court before another
senior commercial judge whose judgement
was handed down on 2g August 2008 in similar
robust terms as the first judge, again awarding
the case strongly to Inveresk, On appeal again
by Tullis Russell, this matter was referred back
to the Court of Appeal on 18/19 November
2008, the outcome of which remains unknown
at this time. The amount of consideration due
including interest and costs will exceed £1M
and has not been taken to income at this time
pending a successful outcome in the Court of
Appeal. Your Board of Directors together with
their legal advisers remain confident that this
matter will be resalved in inveresk’s favour in
due course.

R & D and the Environment
Research and Development has always been
one of the cornerstones of our past success at
St Cuthberts and notwithstanding the lack of
physical investment in plant and eguipment
we have continued to invest in technical
innovation. For us, R&D is not only about
salving challenges referred to us by customers
but also the development of new products
which set us aside from others engaged in
our industry through our technical ability

to innovate for which we enjoy an enviable
reputation. In this regard we have at this time
two new specific product lines which in their
own way could make a significant impact on
the future printing techniques required to
manufacture end products on a global scale.
Inveresk has chosen to patent each of these
products where targeted market success

is likely to produce long term commercial
benefits to both our valued customers and
ourselves through the provision of licence and
royalty agreements.
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So far as the environment is concerned we
strive to fulfil local regulatory requirements
which have become increasingly onerous and
which ultimately affect our competitivenessin
the market. We continue to-

replace any hazardous substances or
chemicals in products as far as is technically
feasible and financially viable.

minimise any environmental impact in the
manufacturing process.

minimise the volume of wastz and waste
products by whatever means.

. work consistently and conscientiously
in-house with feasible levels of training,
information and discussion in order to
stimulate the development of expertise in
environmental matters as well as health and
safetyissues,

Pensions

During the year under review both our pension
schemes performed well in a market which
was dominated by volatility in global stock
and financial markets worldwide. We continue
to work with actuarial experts in an effort

to maximise investment returns whilst also
seeking ways and means of reducing our
schemes’ long term liabilities. The pensions
industry appears to remain in disarray

and is severely hampered by Government
interference and accounting rutes which are
designed to confuse even those with particular
expertise in the subject.

Prospects at St Cuthberts

sales of our artist and inkjet papers are
performing to expectation given the state of
the market and the economic downturn which
currently prevails, This resilient business has
seen good stability in terms of sales prices

and volumes are increasing mainly in the Far
East. The North American market remains
depressed. Our widely respected brands are
now sold in Japan, China, India, Korea, Hong
Kong and Singapore in addition to the USA and
UK justifying our decision to support a sales
and marketing initiative bespcke to the region.

Clearly the downturn in most economies
gives cause for concarn. We are continuing to
explore all possible avenues which will atlow
us to pursue our alternative strategy which
lies in the development of our real estate
portfolio and which represents best value to
shareholders.

Dividend

Your Board is unable to recommend the
payment of a dividend given present market
conditions. At the same time given the
dramatic effects of the worldwide credit
crunch and financial crisis we intend to
concentrate on the elimination of debt as a
prime business objective.

Post Balance Sheet Events.

A number of events have taken place after
the baiance sheet date to which | would draw
shareholders’ attention:

1. The Company remained in active
negotiation during the second quarter of
2008 regarding the sale of those business
assets which relate to the pre-impregnated
foil based papers business (PiP) for the
furniture and décor markets manufactured
in the St Cuthberts Mill. There are very few
worldwide competitors with expertise in
this field and the logic behind achieving
greater capacity utilisation through
merging with a larger competitor was
highly persuasive as indeed it wasin
2005 when we sold our SBS coated board
assets at Carrongrove Mill to Tullis Russell
Papermakers Ltd, Regrettably, however,
weak demand within this niche sector and
falling sales prices meant that in late May
this transaction cotlapsed against declining
fortunes for the décor sector as a whole
and a weak financial performance by the
prospective buyer.

2. At the same time against a background of
the lowest bank debt within Inveresk for
a decade and real estate assets valued at
between £22M and £2cM (based on assumed
outline planning consents for these
brownfield developments), our bankers
HBOS admitted in mid june 2008 that they
were not in a financial position to increase
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our banking facilities in fine with the cash
flow requirements of the business. For this
reason the directors took the precautionary
and necessary step of suspending the
Company’s shares on the London Stock
Exchange in order that action could be
taken to address the future funding of

the business amidst the credit crunch and
worsening banking crisis.

. The status of HBOS became increasingly

clear during the summer of 2008 and by
September emergency merger negotiations
with Lloyds TSB, allied to partial
nationalisation courtesy of Government
intervention, have provided HBOS with the
means with which to treat with its customer
base amongst whom we rank. With the
assistance of a small number of existing
shareholders who have agreed to provide
the Company with a short term convertible
loan of £1M, the renewal of the existing
£8.1M facility previously agreed with HBOS
to 31 December 2009 and thereafter a term
loan facility of £4.5M to 31 December 2010,
we are now in a position to sign off our
Annual Report and Accounts and present
these to shareholders for approval albeit
much later than we had originally intended.
We also anticipate the lifting of the share
suspension by the London Stock Exchange
as soon as the Report and Accounts for 2007
and the 2008 Interim Results have been
released to shareholders.

. On 1 July 2008 your Directors opted to close

the pre-impregnated paper (PIP) business

in order to stem the losses generated by our
PM1machine, A Letter of Intent has been
signed with a view to entering into a Joinz
Venture agreement with a Chinese paper
manufacturer using this machine together
with the Group’s technical expertise and aur
knowledge/relationships with the European
customer base as the basis for our equity
investment in the Joint Venture,

INVERESK PLC
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The Directors are very aware that the current
economic climate is difficult and uncertain.
While we have several options for the
realisation of assets within our business

we have looked very closely at future cash
flows and their sensitivities. We have always
managed our cash resources tightly and we
recognise the critical need todosointhe
current economic climate to ensure that the
Company lives within what we believe to be
adeguate financial resources going forward.

Employees

The Company is heavily dependent upon

its employees to maintain the integrity of

its manufacturing capability and to the
achievement of commercial targets as set by
the Board. We are greatly indebted to our loyal
employees who continue to operatein the
business in less than ideal circumstances and
who face differing challenges on a day to day
basis. Change is never easy to implement and
the Board would like to express its gratitude
te all employees whose efforts are much
appreciated. Without their dedication and
commitment it would be most difficult to
cperate in the current business environment,

Jan Bernander
Chairman

19 December 2008
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Review

Operating Review

During 2007 St Cuthberts had to deal witha
number of issues that were impacting on the
mill’s ability to get back into profit. The
furniture paper business on our fourdrinier
machine {PM1) was under severe pressure on
prices due to increased capacity in the
marketplace and the higher cost of energy and
raw materials. Our customers were also finding
life to be very difficult and this resuited in
pressure on the mill to reduce sales prices. At
times we found oursetves participatingin
‘dutch auctions’ for some of the larger orders,
Margins were always under pressure and we
were forced to balance the need to keep the
mill running with the sales price we were able
to achieve in the marketplace.

Many of our raw material suppliers were trying
to get prices up and where practicable we
switched to producers willing to sell at lower
prices in order to keep our costs under control.

Woodpulp prices continued to increase
throughout the year although there was some
benefit from changes in exchange rates, which
partly mitigated the higher costs. Most raw
materials increased in price due to higher oil
prices which alsoimpacted on transport costs.
Energy costs continued to increase in the
latter part of the year.

The increasing cost of producing cur speciality
products forced us to increase prices to many
customers at the end of the year. This
improved the margins we were achieving
although we still saw some customers asking
us to quote for each order.

Despite the competitive pressures we
continued to attract sufficient business for
furniture grades to keep the PM1machine

running for most of the year, This resultedina
significant increase in tonnage sales year on
year. We were also talking to a number of
potential new customers who liked the quality
of our products and were starting to give us
good orders. We believe that the volume of
business we were attracting was due to our
willingness to taitor products to customers’
requirements and to our ability to respond
quickly to these requirements.

Production efficiencies on our PM1 machine
were lower at the start of the year and it took
some time to get the efficiencies back to where
they should be. However by the end of 2007 the
mill was achieving production efficiencies
back at the best levels we had achieved in the
past. This enabled us to satisfy demand and
increase sales despite having fewer employees.
We continued to work onincreasing preduct
run lengths and this helped the improvement
in efficiencies.

The addition of new niche added value
products to our portfolio was one of our major
targets and we successfuily developed two
new resin impregnated products ready for
commercialisation,

However, all managernent’s efforts to return the
furniture paper business to profit have been to
no avail in the first six months of 2008 as the
market for our PIP products in Europe have
become even more commoditised and energy,
raw material and transport costs have escalated
out of control. Consequently, the Board
reluctantly took the decision that Inveresk
could no longer support the operating losses
which had been incurred for quite some timein
this business and on 1 July 2008 it announced
the closure of St Cuthberts PM1 machine,
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The artist paper business on cur mould machine
also felt the pressure in the marketplace and
found order intake falling slightty month on
month. At the same time we were beginning to
see significant increases in the price of cotton
and the special woodpulps used to make these
products Demand in the Far East has pushed
prices for these commaodities significantly
higher and we have littfe choice but to pay the
price if we are to maintain the high quality of
the products we manufacture. Inevitably this
has had to resultin sales price increases to our
customers in 2008,

We have also launched our new Somerset
Photo inkjet paper into the marketplace
receiving good reviews in the press. The
market for these high quality ink jet products
has attracted a lot of interest from other
manufacturers and we have seen a large
number of new entrants trying to take a share
of the business. This has made it more difficult
to capture market share because of the wide
range of products available. Fortunately our
reputation as the producer of the Somerset
Enhanced range is helping us to get exposure.
We are continuing to promote this new range
and are starting to see some sales grawth.

Artist paper sales feli in 2007 and we have been
putting in effort to successfully reverse this
trend in 2008, We are having success in
developing sales in the Far East, which isa
market with significant potential for us. We
have gained a number of new distributors and
are seeing sales grow month on month. We
have also been targeting Eastern Europe and
are seeing sales develop in these areas as we
find appropriate distribution channels.
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Financial Review

The results for the year ended 31 December
2007 are reviewed fully in the Chairman’s
Statement.

These are the first annual financial statements
to be prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards {{FRSs)as
adopted by the EU (“adopted IFRSs™). The date of
transition to the adopted IFRSs is 1 January 2006
and the results for the year ended 31 December
2006 have been restated accordingly. Full details
on the accounting policies and effects of
transition to the adopted IFRSs can be found in
the notes ta the accounts.

The Group operates two defined benefit
pension schemes which are both closed to new
entrants; the Inveresk Group Staff Pension Plan
{*the Plan™) and the Weir Group Pension
Scheme (“the Scheme”). The net position of the
two schemes has moved from being a £1381M
net pension liability at 31 December 2006 to a
net pension surplus of £0.846M at 31 Decembey
2007, The recoverable surplus of the Plan has
been restricted by £7.305M {2006 £5.724M) and
the recoverable surpius of the Scheme has
been restricted by £0.28M (2006: £nil).

As a result of adopting 1AS12 “Income Taxes”,
deferred tax has been calculated on all
temporary differences with deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities disclosed separately
in the Balance Sheet, At the end of 2007, the
directors do not consider it appropriate to
recognise a net deferred tax asset relating to
tax losses, therefore, the net deferred taxin
the Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2007 is
stated as £nil (2006: £nil).

Since the Group both buys and sellsin s $and
Euros it has a partial natural hedge against
currency fluctuations, Due to a low exposure
to currency fluctuations no new forward
currency contracts were entered into during
the year and there were no cutstanding
forward currency contracts existing as at 31
December 2007.

There were no share options granted to
directars or employees during the year ended
31 December 2007.
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Board of
Directors

1. jan Bernander
/{ Non-Executive Chairman

jan Bernander (65) was appointed to the Board
in October 2002.

He is a solicitor by profession having gained
valuable corporate experience with multi
national Swedish industrial groups before
embarking on an entrepreneurial career as
Chairman of Slip Naxos AB. He is currently
Chairman of Bjarnekulla Fruktindustrier ABand
a member of the Board of varmlandsmetanol
AB in Sweden. He is based in Singapore.

2. Alan Walker
// Chief Executive

Alan Walker (58) was appointed to the Board in
October 2002.

He qualified with KPMG Glasgow as a member
of The Institute of Chartered Accountants of
Scotland in 1974 and following a period of
years with Price Waterhouse in Paris has been
engaged in industry and commerce for over 20
years, specialising in corporate mergers and
acquisitions on behalf of AB Wilh Becker of
Sweden and other Swedish multinationais in
the UK, continental Eurcpe and North America
where he also attended The Harvard Business
School. He is Executive Chairman of SWP Group
plcand holds a number of non-executive
directorships in medium sized industrial and
commercial businesses, including Healthcare
Locums plc, where he is the non-executive
Chairman.
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3. Gordon Thomson
// Finance Director

Gordon Thamson (61) was appointed to the
Board in December 2002.

Heis experienced in business turnarounds
and in managing companies through periods
of rapid growth or intense change. He was
formerly Group Finance Directar of Casile
View International Holdings Limited, a major
support services company, and prior to

this operated at board level in a number of
manufacturing companies, both public and
private. He is a member of The institute of
Chartered Accountants of Scotland where
previously he also held a four year tenure as
Deputy Chief Executive.

4. Stephen Mason
// Non-Executive Director

Stephen Mason (62} was appointed tothe
Board in October 2004.

He joined the merchanting sector of the
paper industry in 1969 and until recently hetd
the position as Chairman of the UK’s largest
merchanting group, Paperlin, with annual
sales of over one million tonnes. In addition
to general management his experience has
involved him in acquisitions and mergers,
whilst his sales and marketing background
also adds to the balance of skills within the
Board.

5. Kieran Green
// Executive Director, St Cuthberts Mill

Kieran Green (60) was appointad to the Board
in 1998 having been the General Manager of
the St Cuthberts Mill since 1997.

He originally joined theindustry as a Graduate
Trainee with wiggins Teape Researchand
Development where he specialised in new
product and process development. He then
spent several years as a Development Manager
before joining Invereskin 198:.
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Directors’
Report

The Directors present their report and the
audited financial statements for the financial
year ended 31 December 2007.

Principal Activity

The principal activity of the Group is the
production of specialist papers for a variety of
end uses. A review of the Group’s performarice
for the financial year ended 31 December 2007
is contained in the Chairman’s Statement an
pages 2 to 6 and the Operating and Financial
Review on pages 7 to 8.

Business Review

The information that fulfils the requirements
of the Business Review can be found in the
Company’s Operating and Financial Review on
pages 7 to 8 and in the Chairman’s Statement
on pages 2 to 6, which cover the review of the
development and performance of the business
and the principal risks and uncertainties
which the business faces, and which the
Directors believe give a balanced and
comprehensive review of the business.

In their review of their paper businesses the
Directors monitor an a very regular basis the
tonnage of orders received to ensure the
maximum possible machine capacity
utilisation; the average order size, production
down time and broke levels to ensure
production efficiencies are optimised; and the
average selling price received per tonne.

The Company’s policy with regard to
environmental matters is dealt with on pages
4 to 5in the Chairman's Statement.

Purchase of Ordinary Shares

The Company has shareholders’ authority for
the purchase of 14,380,475 of the Company’s
own shares (representing 10% of the issued
share capital).

Dividends

The Directors do not recommend any
dividend.
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Charitable and Political
Donations

The Group made charitable donations of
£1,114 in the United Kingdom. There were no
political donations.

Employees

The Company’s policy for training and career
development is to give full consideration for
all vacancies and opportunities to any suitable
person, including disabled persons.
Employees’ representatives meet
management regularly to discuss matters
affecting employees.

Suppliers’ Payment Policy

The Company does not follow any code or
standard but agrees appropriate terms and
conditions for its transactions with suppliers.
At 31 December 2007 trade creditors
represented approximately 54 days’
purchases.

Directors and Directors’ Interests
Details of the current Directors appear on
pages 10and 11,

The following Directors have served
throughout the year:

Mr ] G Bernander
Mr | AF Walker
Mr G M Thomson
Mr S Mason

Mr K P Green

Mr D N Doorbar resigned from the Board on 22
May 2007

The interest of each Director in the ordinary
shares of the Company and in options held
under the Company’s share option schemes
are shown on pages 36 to 37.

Substantial Shareholdings

As at the date of this report, the Company had
notification of the following interests in 3% or
more of its issued ordinary shares:
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Shareholder Number of Shares Notified Percentage of Current Issued Share Capital
Roba Securities Ltd 12,850,000 8.94%
Jan Gunnar Bernander 12,336,730 8.58%
Chase Nominees Limited 10,642,003 7.40%
HSBC Giobal Custody Nominee (UK) Limited 7,250,000 5.04%
Gardon Bell 7,000,600 4B7%
Rock (Nominees) Limited 4,875,500 1.35%

Statement of directors’
responsibilities in respactef the
Directors’ Report and the
financial statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the
Directors’ Report and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and
regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare
Group and Parent Company financial
statements for each financial year. As required
by the AIM Rules of the London Stock Exchange
they are required to prepare the Group
financial statements in accordance with IFRSs
as adopted by the EU and applicable laws and
have elected to prepare the Parent Company
financial statements on the same basis.

The Group and Parent Company financial
statements are required by law and [FRSs as
adopted by the EU to present fairly the
financial position of the Group and the Parent
Company and the performance for that period;
the Companies Act 2985 provides in relation to
such financial statements that references in
the relevant part of that Act to financial
statements giving a true and fair view are
references to their achieving a fair
presentation.

In preparing each of the Group and Parent
Company financial statements, the Directors
arerequired to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then
apply them consistently;

- make judgments and estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;

- state whether they have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU;
and

prepare the financial statements on the
going concern basis unless jtis inappropriate
to presume that the Group and the Parent
Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping
proper accounting records that disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Parent Company and enable
them to ensure that its financial statements

comply with the Companies Act 1985. They
have a general responsibility for taking such
steps as are reasonably open to them to
safeguard the assets of the Group and to
prevent and detect fraud and other
irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the
maintenance and integrity of the corporate
and financial information included on the
Company’s website, Legislation in the UK
governing the preparation and dissemination
of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.

Zoing Concorn

The Directors have a reasonable expectation
that the Group has adequate bank facilitiesin
place to continue its operational existence for
the foreseeable future, For this reason, they
continue to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the financial statements (see note 1
to the Financial Statements).

[hsclosure of Info mation i
Auclitors

The Directors who held office at the date of
approval of this Directors’ Report confirm that,
so far as they are each aware, thereis no
relevant audit information of which the
Company’s auditors are unaware; and each
Director has taken all the steps that he ought
to have taken as a Director to make himself
aware of any retevant audit information and to
establish that the Company’s auditors are
aware of that information.

Auditers

Aresolution under Section 384 of the
Companies Act 1985 to re-appoint KPMG Audit
Plc as auditors to the Company will be
proposed at the Annual General Meeting,

By order of the Board.

D) Pett Registered Office

Secretary Steuart Road

Inveresk PLC Bridge of Allan
Stirlingshire

19 December 2008 FKg 4 JX
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Independent
Auditors’

Report

to the members of Inveresk PLC

We have audited the Group and Parent
Company financial statements (“the financial
statements”) of Inveresk PL.C for the year
ended 31 December 2007 which comprise

the Consolidated income Statement, the
Consclidated and Parent Company Balance
Sheets, the Consolidated and Parent Company
Cash Flow Statements, the Consotidated and
Parent Company Statements of Recognised
income and Expense and the related notes.
These financial statements have been
prepared under the accounting policies set out
therein.

This report is made solely to the Company’s
members, as a body, in accordance with
saction 235 of the Companies Act 1985, Our
audit work has been undertaken so that we
might state to the Company’s members those
matters we are required to state to themin

an auditor’s repart and for no other purpose.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the Company and the Company’s
members as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

14w

Respective responsibilities of
directors and auditors

The directors’ responsibilities for preparing
the Directors’ Report and the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
£U are set out in the Statement of Directors’
Responsibilities on page 13.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial
statements in accordance with relevant legal
and regulatory requirements and International
Standards on Auditing {UK and irefand).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the
financial statements give a true and fair view
and are properly prepared in accordance with
the Campanies Act 1985, We also report to you
whether, in our opinion, the information given
in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the
financial statements. The information givenin
the Directors’ Report includes that information
presented in the Operating and Financial
Review and the Chairman’s Statement that

is cross referred from the Business Review
section of the Directors’ Report.
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In addition we report to you if, in our opinion,
tha Company has not kept proper accounting
records, if we have not received all the
information and explanations we require for
our audit, or if infermation specified by law
regarding directors’ remuneration and other
transactions is not disclosed.

We read the other information contained in
the Directors’ Report and consider whether
itis consistent with the audited financial
statements. we consider the implications

for our report if we become aware of

any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the financial statemnents.
Our responsibilities do not extend toany other
information.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing (UK

and ireland}issued by the Auditing Practices
Board. An audit includes examination, on a
test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts
and disctosures in the financial statements. It
also includes an assessment of the significant
estimates and judgements made by the
directors in the preparation of the financial
statements, and of whether the accounting
policies are appropriate to the Group’s and
Company’s circumstances, consistently
applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit soas to
obtain all the information and explanations
which we considered necessary in order

to provide us with sufficient evidence

to give reasonable assurance that the
financial statements are free irom material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud

or other irregularity or error. In forming

our opinion we also evaluated the overall
adequacy of the presentation of information
in the financial statements.

Opinion

In gur apinion:

- the Group financial statements give a true
and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the EU, of the state of the Group’s
affairs as at 31 December 2007 and of its
profit for the year then ended;

the Parent Company financial statements
give a true and fair view, in accordance
with IFRSs as adopted by the EU as applied
in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 1985, of the state of the
Parent Company’s affairs as at

31 December 2007;

- the financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 1985; and

the information given in the Directors’
Report is consistent with the financial
statements.

KPPl AT Ple
KPMG Audit Plic
Chartered Accountants
Registered Auditor
Edinburgh

19 December 2068
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Consolidated Income Statement INVERESK PLC
for the year ended 31 December 2007 Annual Report and

Accounts 2007
2007 2006
Note £'000 £'000
Continuing aperations
Revenue 2 12,951 13,304
Cost of sales (12,474)  (12,925)
Gross profit 477 379
Distribution expenses (787) {856)
Administrative expenses - before restructuring costs {1,924} {1,525}
Administrative expenses - restructuring costs 6 {123) (594)
Total administrative expenses (2,047) (2119)
Loss from operating activities (2,357) (2,596)
Finance income 4 2,067 1,657
Finance expenses 4 (1,893} {1,550)
Net finance income 174 107
Loss before income tax (2,183) {2,489)
income tax {charge)/credit 14 {130) 769
Loss from continuing operations {2.313) (1,720)
Discontinued operations
Profit/{loss) from discontinued operations, net of income tax 3 4,054 {1,296)
Profit/{loss) for the year 22 1741 {3,016)
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the company 1,741 (3,016)
From continuing and discontinued operations
Basic earnings/(loss) per share g9 13p {2.2)p
Diluted earnings/(ioss) per share 9 13p {22)p
From continuing operations
Basic 10ss per share 9 (17)p {13
Diluted loss per share 9 (17)p {13)p
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INVERESK PLC Consolidated Balance Sheet
Annual Report and

as at 31 December 2007
Accounts 2007
2007 2006
Hote £'000 £'o00
Assets
Property, piant and equipment 10 7,069 7,583
Deferred tax asset 14 - 367
Total non-current assets 7.069 7,950
inventories 13 3,355 2,619
Trade and other receivables 18 2,566 3,231
Employee benefits - assets 24 846 1,410
Cash and cash equivalents 1 4
Assets classified as held for sale 11 5,990 12,130
Total current assets 12,758 19,394
Total assets ' 19,827 27,344
Equity
Share capital 21 1,438 1,438
Retained arnings 22 9,173 6,322
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the company 10,611 7,760
Liabilities
Loans and borrowings 18 3,077 4,308
Employee benefits - obligations 24 - 2,791
Deferred tax liabilities 14 - 367
Total non-current liabilities 3,077 7,466
Bank overdraft 19 1,566 7,218
Loans and borrowings 13 1,231 1231
Trade and other payables 17 3,075 3,229
Provisions 20 267 440
Total current liabilities 6,139 12,118
Total liabilities 9,216 19,584
Total equity and liabilities 19,827 27,344

These financial statements were approved on 19 December 2008 and signed on its behalf by:

Clme % d%&u

G.M. Thomson JAF. Walker

4
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows INVERESK PLC

for the year ended 31 December 2007 Annual Report and

AcCcounts 2007

2007 2006

£'000 £'o00
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/{ioss) for the year 1,741 (3,016)
Adjustments for;
Depreciation 536 715
Net finance expense 457 644
Gain on sale of assets {5.047) {100)
Equity settled share based payment transactions - 23
Amortisation of government grants - {2)
Income tax credit (237) {1,247)
Pension service charge net of contributions (578) (569)
Change in inventories (736) 370
Changein trade and other receivables 665 2,231
Changein trade and other payables (81) (1,693)
Change in provisions {273) {135)
Interest paid (845) (726)
interest received 13 10
Net cash used in operating activities {4,285) (3,395)
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of assets 11,225 126
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (60} (39)
Net cash from investing activities 11,165 a7
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of borrowings {1,231} {1,230)
Net cash used in financing activities {1,233} {3,230}
Net increase/(decrease)in cash and cash equivalents 5,649 {4,538}
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January {7,214) {2,676)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December {1,565) {7.214)
Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents 2007 2006

£'c00 £'000
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December {1,565) {7.214)
less, bank overdraft at 31 December 1,566 7,218
Cash in the balance sheet at 31 December 1 4

20




INVERESK PLC ; Consolidated Statement of Recognised
Annual Report an income and Expense

Accounts 2007

for the year ended 31 December 2007

2007 2006
£'oo0 £'000

Foreign exchange translation differences
for foreign operations - (1)
Retirement benefit schemes
actuarial gains/{losses) 1,347 (449)
Deferred tax on retirement benefit schernes (237)
Net income and expense recognised directly in equity 1,110 {450)
Profit/{loss) for the year 1,741 (3,016)
Total recognised income and expense for the year 2,851 (3,466)
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the company 2,851 (3,466)

21
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Company Balance Sheet

INVERESK PLC

as at 31 December 2007 Annual Report and
Accounts 2007
2007 2006
Mote £'o00 £'o00

Assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 7,069 7,583
Investments 1z 6,928 6,928
Deferred tax asset 14 - 367
Total non-current assets 13,997 14,878
Inventories 5 3,355 2,619
Trade and other receivables 16 2,565 3,230
Employee benefits - assets 4 846 1,410
Cash and cash eguivalents 1 4
Assets classified as held for sale 11 5,990 12,130
Total current assets 12,757 19,393
Total assets 26,754 34,271

Equity
Share capital 21 1,438 1438
Retained earnings 37 9,174 6,321
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the company 10,612 7,759

Liabilities

Loans and borrowings 18 3,077 4,308
Employee benefits - obligations 24 - 2,791
Deferred tax liabilities 14 - 367
Total non-current liabilities 3,077 7,466
Bank overdraft 14 1,566 7,219
Loansand borrowings 13 1,231 1,231
Trade and other payables 17 10,001 10,156
Provisions 20 267 440
Total current liabilities 13,065 19,046
Total liabilities 16,142 26,512
Total equity and Jiabilities 26,754 34,271

These financial statements were approved on 19 December 2008 and signed on its behalf by:

G. M. Thomsan I.A.F. Walker —

Director Director

]



INVERESK PLC Company Statement of Cash Flows

Annual Report and for the year ended 31 December 2007
Accounts 2007

2007 2006
f'oo0 £’000
Cash flows from operating activities
profit/{loss) for the year 1,743 {3,008
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 536 715
Net finance expense 457 644
Gain on sale of assets (5,047) {100}
Equity settled share based payment transactions - 23
Amartisation of government grants - {2)
Income tax credit {(237) {1,147)
Pension service charge net of contributions (578) (569)
Change in inventories (736} 370
Change in trade and other receivables 665 2,230
Change in trade and other payables (82) {1,687)
Change in provisions {273) (135)
Interest paid {845) (726)
Interest received 13 10
Net cash used in operating activities {4.284) (3,382)
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sate of assets 11,225 126
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment {60) (39)
Net cash from investing activities 13,165 87
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of borrowings {1,231) {1,230)
Net cash used in financing activities {1,231) {1,230)
Net increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 5,650 (4,525}
Cash and cash equivalents at 1. January {7,215) (2,690}
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December {1,565) {7.215)
Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents 2007 2006
£'000 £'000
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December {1,565} (7,215)
less, bank overdraft at 31 December 1,566 7,219
Cashin the balance sheet at 31 December 1 4
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Company Statement of Recognised

Income and Expense
for the year ended 31 December 2007

INVERESK PLC
Annual Report and
Accounts 2007

2007 2006

£'000 £'000
Defined retirement benefit schemes actuarial gains/{losses) 1,347 {449)
Deferred tax on retirement benefit schemes (237) -
Net income and expense recognised directly in equity 1,110 (449)
Profit/{loss) for the year 1,743 (3,008)
Total recognised income and expense for the year 2,853 (3,457}
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the company 2,853 {3,457)

24 4
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1.2

INVERESK PLC Notes
Annual Report and

Forming part of the financial statements
Accounts 2007

Accounting policies

Inveresk PLC (the “Company”} is a company domiciled in the United Kingdom. The consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007 comprise those of the Company and
its subsidiaries {together referred to as the "Group”). The Parent Company financial statements
present information about the Company as a separate entity and not about its Group.

The financial statements were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 19 December 2008.

Statement of compliance

Both the parent Company finarcial statements and the Group financial statements have been
prepared and approved by the directors in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the EU (“adopted IFRSs™. On publishing the parent Company financial
statements here together with the Group financial statements, the Company is taking advantage
of the exemption in section 230 of the Companies Act 1985 not to present its individual income
statement and related notes that form a part of these approved financial statements. These

are the first financial statements of the Group and the Company prepared in accordance with
adopted IFRSs and IFRS 1 has baen applied. An explanation of how the transition to IFRS has
affected the reported financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the Group and
the Company is provided in note 25. This note includes reconciliations of equity and profit or
loss for comparative periods reported under UK GAAP to those reported for those periods under
adopted IFRSs. The Company has elected not to restate business combinations prior to the date
of transition to adopted IFRSs and curmulative translation differences for all foreign operations
have been set to zero at 1 january 2006,

Basis of Preparation

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost basis except for certain items of
property, plant and equipment held at deemed cost, financial assets and liabilities held at fair
value and assets held for sale held at the lower of carrying value or fair value under the transition
rules of IFRS.

The preparation of financial statements which comply with the provisions of adopted IFRSs
requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, as well asincome and
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis of the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

In particular information about significant areas of uncertainty and critical judgements in
applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the financial statements is
included in note 27.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to alf periods presented

in the financial statements. They also have been applied in preparing an opening IFRS balance
sheet at 1 January 2006 for the purpose of the transition to IFRS, asreq uired by {FRS 1. The impact
of the transition from previous UK GAAP to IFRS is explained in note 25.

# 25
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1.4

Notes INVERESK PLC
Annual Reportand

Forming part of the financial statements
Accounts 2007

Going concern

The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development,
performance and position are set out in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 2106 and the
Operating and Financial Review on pages 7 and 8. The financial position of the Group, its cash
flows, liquidity position and borrowing facilities are described in the Chairman’s Statement on
pages 2to6. In addition note 19 to the financial statements includes the Group’s objectives,
policies and processes for managing its capital; its financial risk management objectives; details of
its financial instruments and hedging activities and its exposures to credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group meets its day to day working capital requirements through a combination of bank
overdraft and term loan facilities and shareholders’ loans. Following recent negotiations with its
bankers and shareholders these facilities are in place until 31 December 200g, with further term
loan facilities at a reduced level ta 31 December 2010. The Directors are confident that facilities
will bein place at a level sufficient to meet the Company’s and Group’s on-going requirements for
the foreseeable future.

The Directors have prepared cash flow forecasts for the Group and Company for a period in excess
of 12 menths from the date of authorisation of these financial statements. The Group’s cash flow
forecasts and projections (forecasts’) reflect the Directors’ plans for the coming year, including
cash flows relating to the ongoing trading performance of its Artists Paper business, the closure
of its Furniture Paper business including the recovery of refated working capital balances, the
ongoing realisation of property and other assets and claims. The forecasts completed on this basis
show that the Group should be able to operate within the level of its current facilities,

The Directors recognise that the current economic climate creates uncertainty over the timing and
amount of these cash flows, in particular in respect of the sale of certain assets and the timing of
claims settlements. However after making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation
that the Company and the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing
the annual report and accounts.

Basis of Consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities {including special purpose entities) which are controlled by the Group.
Control exists when the Group has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and
operating policies of the entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control,
potential voting rights that presently are exercisable or convertible are taken into account. The
financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Investments in subsidiary
undertakings in the Company are stated at cost less any permanent impairment.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

intragroup balances, and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from
intragroup transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that
there is no evidence of impairment

Foreign currency translation

For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of
each Group company are expressed in pounds sterling, which is the functional currency of the
Company, and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements.

26 ¢
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INVERESK PLC Notes

Annual Report and Forming part of the financial statements
Accounts 2007

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date
of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the
balance sheet date are translated to sterling at the rate of exchange ruling at that date. Foreign
exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income statement.

Non monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated at the rate at the date of the transaction.

The assets and liabilities of overseas subsidiary operations are translated at the closing
exchange rates. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to sterling at
average exchange rates for the period to approximate to the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions, Foreign exchange differences arising on retranslations are recognised directly

asa component of equity. Since 1 January 2006, the Group’s date of transition to IFR5s, such
differences have been recognised in the foreign exchange reserve. When a foreign operation is
disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant amount of the foreign exchange reserve is transferred
to income statement, The group has taken advantage of the relief available in IFRS 1 to deem the
cumulative translation differences for all foreign operations to be zero at the date of transition
to adopted IFRSs{ | January 2006},

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or deemed cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses . Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition
of the asset.

Depreciation is charged to the income statement to write off cost on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment. Land is not
depreciated. The estimated usefut lives are as follows:

Buildings 30-50 years
Plant, machinery and equipment  3-20 years

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the
income statement.

Intangible assets

All business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method. In respect of
business acquisitions that have occurred since 1 January 2003, goodwill represents the difference
between the fair value of the consideration given and the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquired.

tnventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the crdinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion
and selling expenses, Cost in the case of work in progress and finished goods includes an
appropriate proportion of production overheads.

Trade Receivables

Trade and other receivables are stated initially at their fair value and subsequently at amortised cost
using an effective interest rate rethod less an appropriate allowance for irrecoverable recelvables.
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Notes INVERESK PLC
Annual Reportand

Forming part of the financial statements
Accounts 2007

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash balances and call deposits with an original maturity
of three months or less. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for
the purpose of the statement of cash flows.

Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets, other than inventories (accounting policy 1.7},
employee benefit assets (accounting policy 1.13) and deferred tax assets (accounting policy
1.18), are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of
impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

Animpairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount. impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of assets is the greater of their fair value less costs to sell and valuein
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value

of money and the risks specific to the assets. For an asset that does not generate largely
independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

Reversal of impairment
in respect of ather assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does
nat exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or |
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Share Capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

when share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration

paid, including directly attributable costs, is recognised as a change in equity. Repurchased
shares that are not subsequently cancelted are classified as treasury shares and presentedas a
deduction from total equity.

Borrowings

Interest bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest bearing borrowings are stated at amortised
cost with any difference between cost and redemption value being recognised in the income
statement over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.

Employee benefits
Defined contribution plans

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an
expense in the income statement as incurred. The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the group in an independently administered fund.
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Defined benefit plans

The asset or liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans

is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value |
of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries i
using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation

is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high- ,
quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which benefits will be paid, and
that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension liability.

All actuarial gains and losses at 1 January 2006, on the date of transition to IFRS, were recognised.
subsequently all actuarial gains and losses are recognised directly in the statement of
recognised income and expens2 as they arise.

When the calculation results in plan assets exceeding liabilities to the Group, the recognised

asset is limited to the net total of any unrecognised actuarial losses and past service costs and

the present value of any currently available future refunds from the plan or reductions in future |
contributions to the plan. |

Share-based payment transactions

The fair value of options granted after 7 November 2002 and those not yet vested as at the
effective date of IFRS 2 is recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in
equity. The fair value is measured at the grant date and spread aver the period during which the
employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. The fair value of the options granted
is measured using an option pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of share options that vest except where forfeiture is only due to share prices not
achieving the threshold for vesting. A corresponding credit is made ta equity.

Share options granted after 7 November 2002, which have vested before 1 January 2006, have
been ignored for restatement in line with the transitional provisions of IFRS 1. The proceeds
received, net of any directly attributable expenses, are credited to share capital and share
premium when the options are exercised,

1.14 Provisions ‘

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of a past avent, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation.

A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Group has approved a detailed and formal
restructuring plan, and the restructuring either has commenced or has been announced publicly.
Future operating costs are not provided for.

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the
Group from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the
contract.

if the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows
at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, when
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability,

1.15 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised at fair vatue,
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1.16 Revenue

Revenue comprises the fair value of the sale of goods, net of value-added tax, rebates and
discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group. Revenue is recognised as follows:

Sale of goods

Sales of goods are recognised when a Group entity has delivered products to a customer, the
customer has accepted the products and collectability of the related receivables is reasonably
assured,

1.17 Expenses

(@)

(b)

(c}

Operating lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight
line basis over the term of the lease.

Finance lease payments

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the
outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term soas to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Net Financing costs

interest receivable includes interest on funds invested and is recognised in the income
statement as it accrues, using the effective interest method and foreign exchange gains and
losses,

Finance expense comprises interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective
interest rate method.

Other Finance Income includes the expected return on pension scheme assets and Other Finance
Costs includes interest on pension scheme liabilities for the defined benefit pension schemes
operated by the Group.

1.18 Income tax

income tax on the profit or loss for the periods presented comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax is recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxabte income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable
in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet lizbility method, providing for temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes, The amount of deferred tax provided is
based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
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119 Segment Reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged in providing products
or services {business segment) or in providing products or services within a particular economic
environment (geographical segment), which is subject torisks and rewards that are different
from those of other segments,

1.20 Assets held forsale

Assets {and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell,

Assets and disposal groups are held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a
sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when
the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal group)is available for immediate sale in

its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale which shoulid be expected to
gualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

1.21 Discontinued operations

Adiscontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business that represents a separate
major line of business.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets the
criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier,

1.22 Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards

The following accounting standards and interpretations have been adopted by the Group from
1lanuary 2007:
-IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’

-IFRIC 8 ‘Scope of IFRS 2 Share Based Payments’

- Amendment to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements - “Capital Disclosures™’
-1FRIC 10 ‘Interim Financlal Reporting and Impairment’

- IFRIC11/1FRS 2 ‘Share based payments “Group and Treasury Transactions®’

There was no significantimpact on the financial statements arising from the adoption of these
standards.

The following published standards and interpretations are not yet effective and have not been
adopted early by the Group:
- IFRIC 2 'Service Concession Arrangements’

- IFRIC 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’

- IFRIC 14/1AS 19 ‘The limit on a Defined Benefits Assets, Minimum Funding Requirements and
their Interaction’

- IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’

- Amendments to IAS1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements - “A Revised Presentation™’

- Amendments to I1AS 23 ‘Borrowing Costs’

- Amendments to |AS 27 ‘Consolidation and Separate Financial Statements’

- Amendments ta IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’

The impact of these new standards on future accounting periods is currently being assessed.
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2 Segment Reporting

{(a) Primary reporting segment - business segments
Following the sale of the ‘Gemini’ paperboard businessin june 2005 there is only one business
segment in the Group represented by the sole operational papermill, St Cuthberts, which
together with the associated head office functions represent the continuing operations of the
Group. Therefore the accounts disclosures in total, excluding those disclosed separately as
representing discontinued operations, reflect the sole primary business segment of the group.

Continuing operations

- St Cuthberts Mill

2007 2006

£o00 £'000

Segment Revenue 12,951 13,304

Continuing

aperations Consctidated

2007 2006 2007 2006

£'000 £'000 £'000 £°000

Segment results (1,484) {(2,313) (1,484) (2,313}

Unaliocated corporate expense (873} (283)

Loss from operating activities {2,357} {2,596)

Net financeincome 174 107

Loss before income tax - continuing operations (2,183) {2,489)

income tax (charge)/credit {(note 14 and 8) (130) 769

Gain/{toss) on sale of discontinued operations, net of income tax (note 3) 4,054 {1,296)

Profit/{loss) after tax and discontinued operations 1,741 {3,016)

{b}) Secondary reporting segment - geographical segments

The Group’s sales are mainly in countries within the eurozone and the UK,

Revenue 2007 2006

£ o000 £'oo0

UK 2,183 2,417

Europe 8,752 9,068

Africa 17 24

Far East 235 217

Rest of world 1,764 1,578

12,951 13,304

All revenue for the above reporting periods relates o the sole primary business segment of
St Cuthberts papermill,
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Discontinued Operations

In October 2002 and June 2005 the Group sold its fine paper division and the ‘Gemini’ paperboard
business respectively, each representing a separate business segment. Both of these segments
were subsequently reparted as discontinued businesses under UK GAAP and continue to be
presented as discontinued operations at the date of transition to adopted IFRSs and for all
subsequent reporting periods under IFRS.

Revenue
The revenue for each of the twa discontinued business segments was £nil for the year ended
31 December 2007 { year ended 31 December 2006: £nil)

2007 2006
Results £'000 £000
Other gains/{losses)
- restructuring costs (note 6) (729} {924)
- reversal of provisions - 159
-impairment of assets - {(258)
- gain on sale of assets {note 10 and 11) 5,047 100
4,318 {923)
Net finance costs (note 4) {631) (751)
3,687 {1,674}
Income tax credit {note 14) 367 378
Profit/{loss) from discontinued operations, net of income tax 4,054 (1,296}
Finance income and Expense Continuing Discontinued
Operations  Operations Total
2007 2007 2007
£'000 f'oo0 £'000
Expected return on defined benefit plan assets (note 24} 2,054 1,227 3,281
Interest receivable 13 - 13
Financeincome 2,067 1,227 3,294
interest on defined benefit plan obligations {note 24) (1,605} (1,374) {(2,979)
Bank interest payable {288) {484) (772)
Finance expense (1,893) {1,858) {3.751)
Net finance income/{expense)
recognised in the income statement 174 {631) (457)
Continuing Discontinued
Operations Operations Total
2006 2006 2006
£'000 £'000 £'000
Expected return on defined benefit plan assets (note 24) 1,647 1,385 3,032
interest receivable 10 - 10
Financeincome 1,657 1,385 3,042
Interest on defined benefit plan obligations {note 24) (1,432) {1,507) {2,938)
Bank interest payable {119) {629) {748)
Finance expense {1550) (2,136) {3,686)
Net finance income/(expense)
recognised in the income statement 107 (751} {644)
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Other Operating Income and Expense
2007 2006
f'o00  £'000

This is stated after charging/{crediting):
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets

Qwned 536 539
Exceptional charge - 176
Operating lease rentals

Hire of plant and equipment 63 84
Other 64 61

Auditor’s remuneration:
amounts feceivable by Auditors and their associates in respect of,

Audit of these financial statements 39 37
Tax services 15 26
Services relating to remuneration and employee benefits - 7
Other services 5 -
Amortisation of government grants - (2)
Exchange gains (4} (57}

In addition £14,000 of fees were paid to the auditors for other services in the year (2006, nil).

Administrative expenses - restructuring costs

Restructuring charges/{credits) included within the results from operating activities are analysed
as follows:
2007 2006
f'oo0  t'oo0

Continuing operations

Administrative expense - restructuring costs 123 £o4
Discontinued operations 729 924
Restructuring costs 852 1,518

Restructuring costs in respect of continuing operations are largely made up of redundancy
costs and in respect of discontinued operations relate to the closure and maintenance of sites
associated with the sale of business segments, on which operations have ceased.
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The average number of persons employed by the Group {including directors), analysed by category

was as follows:

Group and Company

2007 2006

Number Number

Production 76 86
selling and distribution 5 7
Administration 21 22
102 115

Staff costs in respect of these employees, including executive directors, were:

Group and Company

2007 2006

£'000 £'o000

Wages and salaries 2,919 3,250
Social security costs 311 333
Other pension costs- defined contribution scheme 116 130
Other pension costs - defined benefit scheme 103 i
Share based payment charge - 3
3,449 3,868

Directors’ Emoluments

The total emoluments of the directors during the year ended 31 December 2007 (and year ended

31 December 2006) were as follows:

Total Pension
Fees/ Qther sub-total Pansion Total Emoluments Centributions Total
Salary Benus Benehts 2007 Conlrbutions 2007 2006 005 2006
£ £ £ £ £ [3 £ £ £
Non-executive Directors
] G Bernander 25,000 10,000 - 35,000 - 35,000 36,000 - 35000
15 Mason 20,000 10,000 - 30,000 - 30,000 30,000 - 30,000
45,000 20,000 - 65,000 - 65,000 65,000 - 65,000
Executive Directors
Current Directors
JAF Walker 70,000 50,000 3781 133781 24000 147,781 113890 14000 127,890
G M Thomson 100,000 50,000 1753 151,753 15,000 166,753 141,576 15,000 156,576
K P Green 100,000 - 5,086 109,086 5,000 114086 112,848 cO00 117,848
Former Directors
D N Doorbar 39,130 - 3,622 42,652 5,870 48,522 110,353 15,000 126,353
RW G MaclLeod - - - - - - 68,167 1,993 706,160
354,130 130,000 18,142 502,272 39,870 542,342 611,834 50,993 662827
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Retirement benefits accrue to 1 director under a defined benefit scheme and 2 directors under
the money purchase schemes. The following information is provided in respect of Directors’
entitlements under the defined benefit pension scheme:-

Increasein accured  Accrued Pension  Transfer value of increase in
pension during year at31.12.07 accrued benefit (excluding
{excluding inflation) inflation) less members

own contributions

K P Green (60) 35,275 {6,519)

Directors’ Beneficial Interests
The interests of each current director in the ordinary shares of the company according to the
register maintained under Section 325 of the Companies Act are shown below.

01.01.07 Additions 31.12.07
) G Bernander 12,336,730 - 12,336,730
J § Mason 215,000 - 215,000
JAF Walker 3,025,000 - 3,025,000
G M Thomson £96,000 - 595,000
K P Green 342,560 - 342,560

The following movements in share options took place during the year.

Options Date
granted Exercise  from which Expiry
ororo7 during year 311207 price  exercisable gate
1 AF Walker
Inveresk PLC Unapproved Executive
Share Option scheme 2002 2,750,000 - 2,750,000  10.00p 01.08.04 010814
Inveresk PLC Unapproved Executive
Share Qption scheme 2002 250,000 - 250,000 17.75p 141206 141216
Total 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
G M Thomson
Inveresk PLC Unapproved Executive
Share Qption scheme 2002 750,200 - 750,000  10.00p 010804 010814
Inveresk PLC Unapproved Executive
Share Option scheme 2002 260,000 - 250,000  17.75p 141206  14.12.16
Total 1,000,000 - 1,000,000
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Options Date
granted Exercise  fromwhich Expiry
010107 during year 31.12.07 price  exercisable date
K P Green
Inveresk PLC Approved Executive
Share Option scheme 1993 110,000 - 110,000 1883p 140904 140908
Inveresk PLC Unapproved Executive
Share Option scheme 1993 40,000 - 40,000  1883p 140004 140008
Inveresk PLC Unapproved Executive
Share Option scheme 2002 250,000 - 250,000 10.00p 010804 010814
Total 400,000 - 400,000
D N Dogrbar
Inveresk PLC Unapproved Executive
Share Option scheme 2002 150,000 - 150,000 15.00p 260705  27.07.15
Jotal 150,000 - 150,000
Mr D N Doorbar resigned as a director on 22 May 2007
INCOME TAX EXPENSE
The major components of tax expense/{income) are analysed as, 2007 2006
£'o00 £'o00
Current tax expense - (1,147)
Deferred tax expense:
origination and reversal of temporary differences (254} -
Reduction in the tax rate 17 -
Tax credit (237) {1,147}
Current tax is recognised in the income statement as follows,
2007 2006
£000 £'000
Continuing operations - {769)
Discontinued operations - (378)
Tax credit - (1,147)
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Reconciliation of total tax charge

The current tax charge for the year is lower (2006: lower) than the standard rate of corporation
tax in the UK (30%, 2006: 30%).

The differences are explained below. 2007 2006
£'000 £’000
Profit/{loss) for the year before tax 1,504 {4,163)
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 30% {2006: 30%) 451 {1,249}
Effects of :
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 16 i3
Capital gains not taxable (864) -
Reduction in deferred taxes resulting from reduction in future tax rates 17 -
Losses not recognised 143 84
Total income tax credit (237) (1,147)

There are tax losses of approximately £25 million which are available to carry forward against
future operating profits.

Earnings/{Loss) per share

2007 2006 2007 2006
Earnings/(Loss) Earnings/{Loss) Earnings/{Loss) Earni ngs/(Loss)
£'000 foo0  pence pershare pence pershare
Basic
- continuing operations (note 2}  {2,313) {1,720) {1.7) (13}
-discontinued operations{note3) 4,054 {1,296) 3.0 {0.9)
Basic - Total 1,741 (3,016} 13 (22)
Diluted
- continuing operations (note 2} (2,313) {1,720) {1.7) (13)
-discontinued operations(note3) 4,054 {1,296} 3.0 {09}
Diluted - Total 1,741 (3,016) 1.3 {2.2)

Earnings per share are calculated for the issued shares excluding those registered in the name of
The Inveresk ESOP Trustee Company Limited and those held as Treasury shares.

The weighted average number of shares used in each caiculation is as follows:

2007 2006

Number of Number of

shares (000s) shares {0005}

Average of shares in issue during the financial year 135,055 135,055
Adjustment for the dilutive effect of employee and director share options - 1,660
Average of shares in issue during the financial year diluted 135,055 136,715
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Plant
Freehold machinery Assets
land & vehicle and under
buildings equipment Construction Total
£'000 f'oo00 f'o00 £'000

Group & Company
Cost or deemed cost
At 1]anuary 2006 4,265 16,551 130 20,946
Additions - - 39 39
Transfers - 69 (69) -
Disposals - {240) - {240)
At 1 january 2007 4,265 16,380 100 20,745
Additions - - 60 60
Disposals and retirals - (254) - {254}
At 31 December 2007 4,265 16,126 160 20,551
Depreciation
At ijanuary 2006 19% 12,466 - 12,661
Charge for financial year 68 471 - 539
Exceptional charge - 176 - 176
Disposals - (214) - {214)
At 1)anuary 2007 263 12,899 - 13,162
Charge for financial year 68 468 - 536
Disposals and retirals - {216) - (216)
At 31 December 2007 331 13,151 - 13,482
Carrying Amounts
At 31 December 2007 3,934 2,975 160 7,069
At 31 December 2006 4,002 3,481 100 7,583
At 1)anuary 2006 4,070 4,085 130 8,28¢

Included in freehold land and buildings s £1,560,000 {2006: £1,560,000) of land not depreciated.

The loss on disposal of plant, machinery and equipment is £38,000 (2006; nil), (note 3).
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Assets classified as held for sale
Group and Company

The following assets are held for sale and relate entirely to the discontinued operations of the
two businesses, the fine papers division and the “Gemini” paperboard business, which were bath
closed prior to 1 january 2006.

Plant

Land & machinery and
buildings equipment Total
£'000 £o00 £'000
At 1]anuary 2006 10,005 2,125 12,130
Disposals - - -
Af 1]anuary 2007 10,005 2,125 12,130
Disposals {4,015) {2,125) (6,140)
At 31 December 2007 5,990 - 5,990

During 2007 assets relating to the discontinued operations were soid for the net amount of
£11,225,000 resuiting in a net gain to the income statement of £5,085,000 {note 3).

During 2006 assets held far sale were sold resulting in a net gain of £100,000.

Investment in Subsidiaries

Company Subsidiary Undertakings
Shares Loans Total
£’000 £'000 £'o00
Cost at 31 December 2007,
1January 2007 and 1 January 2006 22,154 410 22,564

Provision for diminution in value

At 31 December 2007,

1January 2007 and 1 January 2006 (15,226) {410} (15,636}
At 31 December 2007 6,928 - 6,928
At 31 December 2006 6,928 - 6,928
Al 1 jJanuary 2006 6,928 - 6,928

Inveresk PLC, the principal company, is incorporated in the UK. and registered in Scotland.

The four wholly owned subsidiary companies, whose shares are held by Inveresk PLC, are as
follows:

Country of Country of
Subsidiary Undertaking Business incorporation operation 7
Inveresk BV Paper distribution The Netherlands The Netherlands
Weir Paper Holdings Limited Dormant Registered in England Notapplicable
inveresk Management Limited  Managementservices Registered in Scotland United Kingdom
Salvinia Limited Investment holding Registered in England United Kingdom

company
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Related Parties

The Company has a related party relationship with its subsidiaries {see note 12), with the
employee benefit trust, with its directors and Alfa International Limited.

Apart from the investment in subsidiary shares as shown in note 12, all transactions and
balances between the company, its subsidiaries and the employee benefit trust at
31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006 are written down or netted off to nil.

For the year ended 31 December 2007 the company advanced £3,000 to Inveresk BY (year ended
31 December 2006, £13,000) refating to the administrative expenses of the subsidiary.

Transactions with key management personnel

The remuneration of the directors, who are the key management personnel of the Group, is set
out below in aggregate for each of the categories specified in |AS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’,
Further information about the remuneration, shareholdings and share options held by
individual directors is provided in note 7.

2007 2006

£'000 £'000

Short-term employee benefits 502 612
Long-term benefits 40 51
Share-based payment - 23
042 686

Other related party transactions

Alfa International Limited is deemed to be a related party by virtue of the fact that

Mr ] AF Walker is Chief Executive of Inveresk PLC and is a director with a controlling interest in
Alfa International Limited. Inveresk PLC rents and obtains refated office support and advisory
services from Alfa international Limited in respect of its Head Office in London.

The relevant transaction amounts charged during the year ended 31 December 2007 are
summarised below. There are no balances outstanding at 31 December 2007.

2007 2006
£'000 £'000
Amounts charged to Inveresk PLC
from Alfa International Limited in year 101 80
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14 Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities
Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is an analysis of the

deferred tax balances after offset for financial reporting purposes.
Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities - Group and Company

2007 2006

f'o00  £'000
Deferred tax liabilities - [367)
Deferred tax assets - 367
Net deferred tax - -
Movements in deferred tax are recognised in the income statement as foflows,

2007 2006

£'000 £o00
Centinuing operations 130 -
Discontinued operations {367) -
Tax credit (note 8) (237) -

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and the
Company and the movements thereon during the current and prior reporting pertods.

Deferred tax analysis - Group and Company

Property,
Tax plantand  Rolledover Employee

losses  equipment capital gains  benefits Other Total
Assets/{liabilities) £’c00 £'000 £'000 f'o00 f'coo £'ooo
At 1]anuary 2006 672 {540} (367} - 235 -
Income statement
{chargel/credit {105) 218 - - {113) -
At 31 December 2006 567 (322) (367} - 122 -
Income statement
{charge)/credit (167} ) 367 - (2} 254
Charge to equity - - - (254) - (254)
Effect of changein taxrate
-income statement (27} 18 - - 8) f{17)
-equity - - - 17 - 17
At 31 December 2007 373 (248) - {237) 112 -

The directors do not consider it appropriate torecognise a net deferred tax asset,

The Group’'s unrecognised deferred tax asset at 31 December 2007 was £6,605,000 (2006:
£6,189,000); this amount would be recovered only if additional suitable profits became available.
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Inventories
Group and Company
2007 2006
£'000  £'000
Raw materials and consumables B42 859
Wark in progress 358 275
Finished goods 2,155 1,485
3,355 2,619

The Group and Company has recognised £12.474m as an expense in the year (2006: £12.925m)
which includes an increase of £190,000 to £1.184m relating to inventory write downs and

increases in provisions held.

Trade and other receivables

Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Trade receivables 1,861 2,572 1,861 2,572
Other receivables 365 280 365 279
Prepayments and accrued income 350 379 339 379
2,566 3,231 2,565 3,230

The Group’s exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment losses related to trade and

other receivables is disclosed in note 19,

Trade and other payables

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
£'000 £'o00 £'000 £'000

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade payables dueto related parties - - 6,928 6,928
Other trade payables 2,698 2,806 2,696 2,805
Non trade payables and accrued expenses 373 417 373 417
Other taxes and social security 4 6 4 6
3,075 3,229 10,001 10,156

The Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risks related to trade and other payables is

disclosed in note 19,

interest bearing loans and borrowings

Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
£’'000 £'000 £'000 £'000°
Amounts falling due within one year:
Bank loans: whotly repayable
within one year (note 19) 1,231 1,231 1,231 1,231
Amcunts falling due after more than one year:
Bank loans: wholly repayable
within five years (note 19) 3,077 4,308 3,077 4,308
Total 4,308 5539 4,308 5539
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Financial instruments

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments; liquidity risk,
credit risk, currency risk and interest rate risk,

This note presents information about the fair value of the Group’s financial instruments, the
Group’s exposure to each of the noted risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for
measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital. Further qualitative
disclosures are included throughout these consolidated financial statements.

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk
management framework. The Group’s policies for risk management are established to identify
the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks
and adherence tolimits. These policies and the systems used to monitor activities are reviewed
regularly by the Board.

Exposure to the currency and interest rate risks noted arise in the normal course of the Group’s
business. There are no derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group.

The Company is required to disclose information on its financial instruments and has adopted
identical policies to the Group, where applicable. Separate disclosure is provided where necessary.

Bank loans and overdrafts:

At 31 December 2007 the banking facilities comprised a £2.5 million working capital facility and

a £4.3 million term loan, together totalling £6.8 miilion. In December 2008 these banking facilities
have been replaced by a £4.4 million working capital facility and a £3.7 million term loan, together
totalling £8.1 million and with an expiry date of 31 December 2009, and thereafter a term loan
facility of £4.5M with an expiry date of 31 December 2010,

Borrowings are based in sterling, euros and US dollars with a floating interest rate based on Base
Rate or LIBOR as applicable plus the bank’s margin.

The Group’s borrowings are secured by a fixed and floating charge over the assets of the Group.

Liquidity risk

The Group manages liguidity risk by maintaining adequate banking and borrowing facilities and
continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of
financial assets and liabilities,

The following tables indicate the periods in which contractual cashflows mature and the effective
interest rates for the interest bearing financial liabilities at the balance sheet date.

Group - 2007
Effective carrying Contractual Within

Interest Value Cashflows 1lyear 1-2years 2-5years
Rate t'a00 £'000 £'000 €000 £'000
Overdraft 7.6% {1,556} {1,685} (1,685} - -
Secured term loan 7.7% (4,308) (4,871} {1,513) "{1,518)  (L940)
Trade Recejvables 1,861 1,861 1,861 - -
Trade Payables (2,698) {2,698) (2,698) - -
{6,711) {7.393)  (4,035) (1,418)  (1,940)
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Group - 2006
Effective Carrying Contractual Within
interest Value Cashflows 1lyear 1-2years 2-5years
Rate £'000 £°000 £'o00 £000 £'000
Overdraft 7.2% {7,218) (7739)  (7.739) - -
Secured term loan 7.2% {5.539) (6,393) (1,583) {1,494}  (3,316)
Trade Receivables 2,572 2,572 2,572 - -
Trade Payables {2,806) (2,806) {2,806} - -
(12,991) {14,366} {9,556} (1,494) (3,316)
Company - 2007
Effective Carrying Contractual within
Interest Value Cashflows 1year 1-2 years 2-Gyears
Rate £'000 £000 €000 £'000 £000
Overdraft 7.6% {1,566) {1,685} {1,685) - -
Secured termloan 7.7% {4,308) {4,871) (1,513) (1,418)  (1,940)
Trade Receivables 1,861 1,861 1,861 - -
Trade Payables {2,696} {2,696} (2,696) - -
(6,709) (7.391)  (4,033) {1,418)  (1,940)
Company - 2006
Effective Carrying Contractual within
Interest Value Cashflows 1lyear 1-2years 2-Gyears
Rzte £'000 £000 £'000 £000 £000
Overdraft 7.2% (7,219) (7739)  (7.739) - -
Secured term |oan 7.2% (5.539) (6,393} {1,583} (1,494}  (3,316)
Trade receivables 2,572 2,572 2,572 - -
Trade Payables {2,805) {2,805) (2,805) - -
{12,991} {14,365) (9,555} {1,494)  (3,316)

The table below indicates the additional undrawn facilities that the Group has at its disposal to
further reduce liquidity risk.

2007 2006
£'000 £'000
Undrawn committed facilities expiring within one year 934 1,282
Trade and other receivables - financial instruments
GI’OUD Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Trade receivables - current 1,788 2,498 1,788 2,498
Trade receivables - overdue and not impaired
-0-3 months 5 - 5 -
Trade receivables - overdue and impaired
-overdue 194 18g 194 185
-impairment (126) (111) (126) {111}
1,861 2,572 1,861 2,572
Other Receivables 180 196 180 195
Total 2,051 2,768 2,041 2,767
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The average credit period on sales of goods for continuing operations is 60 days. Trade receivables
greater than 6 months overdue are provided for based on estimated irrecoverable amounts from
the sale of goods, determined by reference to past default experience and the likely outcome of
actions to recover past due amounts.

An allowance for doubtful debts has been provided amounting to £30,000 (2006: £30,000) for
continuing operations and £96,000 {2006: £81,000) for discontinued operations.

Trade and other payables - financial instruments

Group Company

2007 2006 2007 2006

£'000 £000 £'000 £'oo0

Trade payables 2,698 2,806 2,696 2,805
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings - - 6,928 6,928
Other payables 256 364 256 364
Total 2,954 3,170 9,880 10,097

The average credit period on purchases of goods and services is 54 days (2006, 62 days).

Currency risk

The Group and Company are exposed to currency risk on purchases, sales, borrowings and cash
and cash equivalents that are denominated in a currency other than pounds sterling, primarily
Euros. Foreign exchange risk arises from transactions and recognised assets and liabilities. The
Group and Company do not use foreign exchange contracts to hedge their currency risk.
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by currency and category Group Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
foo0 f0o00 f£'c00 £000

Sterling and Trade ang Loans and
other currencies  other receivabtes receivables 429 613 429 613
Euro Trade and t.oans and

other receivables receivables 1,317 1911 1,317 1910
Us Dollar Trade and Loansand

other receivables receivables 295 244 295 244
Sterling Cash and cash Loans and

equivalents- overdraft  receivables (3,765) (7,801} (3,765) (7,802}
USdollar Cash and cash Loans and

equivalerds - overdraft  receivables {52) - (52) -
Sterling Cash and cash Loans and

equivalents receivables 1 1 1 1
USdollar Cash and cash Loans and

equivalents receivables - 188 - 138
Euro Cash and cash Loansand

equivalenis receivables 241 398 241 358
sterling Interest bearing Financial liability

borrowings: term loan atamortised cost {4,308} (5539) {4,308} (5,539}
Sterlingand Trade and Financial liability
other currencies other payables at amortised cost 1,824 2026 8,750 8,953
Euro Trade and other Financial liability

payables at amortised cost 980 963 930 963
UsS dollar Trade and other Financial liability

payables atamortised cost 150 181 50 181
Credit risk

The Group and Company have no significant concentrations of credit risk, The exposure to credit
risk is mitigated by selling to a diverse range of customers and where necessary, obtaining either
letters of credit or payments in advance, In addition credit insurance is used to insure against risk

of defaulits.
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Sensitivity
Group and Company
interest rate sensitivity

At 31 December 2007 if interest rates had been 5o basis points higher and all other variables were
held constant itis estimated that the Group’s profit before tax would be approximately £50,000
{2006: £53,000) lower. This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its
variable rate borrowings and is based on the change taking place at the beginning of the financial
year and held constant throughout the reporting period.

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates has decreased during the current period mainly due to the
reduction in variablerate debt instruments,

Currency rate sensitivity

Itis estimated that a general increase of one percentage pointin the value of Sterling against the
Euro would have decreased the Group's profit befare tax by approximately £47,000 {2006: £58,000).
This is mainly attributable to receipts and purchases throughaut the reporting year and is based
on the change taking place at the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout
the reporting period.

Fair values

The following table details the book and fair values of the Group’s and Company’s financial
instruments at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006.

2007 2006

Bookvalue Falrvalue  Bookvalue Fairvatue

£'000 £'o00 £'000 £'000

Trade and other receivables - Group 2,041 2,041 2,768 2,768
Trade and other receivables - Company 2,041 2,041 2,767 2,767
Cash at bank - Group and Company 1 1 4 4
Net short-term borrowings and overdraft- Group (2,797) {2,797) (8,449) (8,449}
Net short-term borrowings and overdraft- Company (2,797) {2,797} {8,450} {8,450}
Long-term borrowings - Group and Campany {3,077) {2,697) (4,308) {4,308)
Trade and other payabies- Group (2,954} {2,954) (3,170) {3,170}
Trade and other payables - Company (9,880} {9,880) (10,097) {10,097

Capital management

The Board’s pelicy is to maintain a strong balance sheet so as to maintain investoer, creditor and
market confidence and to sustain future development of the business.

From time to time the Group purchases its own shares an the market; the timing of these
purchases depends on market prices. The use of share buy-backs is the Group’s benchmark for
investment decisions and is utilised at times when management believe the Group’s shares are
undervalued. The Group is also focused on debt reduction and continues to focus on realisation of
assets held for sale to reduce debt,

There were no changes to the Group’s capital management approach during the year.
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Provisions
Onerous
Restructuring lease Total
£'000 £'000 £000

Group and Company

Balance at 1 January 2006 551 24 575
Provisions made 1,649 - 1649
Provisions utilised (1,606) (29) {1,625)
Amounts released unused (259) - (159)
Balance at 31 December 2006 435 5 440
Provisions made 842 - 842
Provisicns utilised (1,010) (5 (1,015}
Balance at 31 December 2007 267 - 267

The restructuring provision comprises fundamental reorganisation costs incurred in respect of
the restructuring of the Groug’s operations,

Full utilisation is expected within the next financial year,

Share capital

Group and Company Ordinary Shares
issued and

fully paid Authorised

£'000 £'000

At 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006
- Ordinary shares of 1p 1,438 2,756

Under the Approved Executive Share Option Scheme 1993, 3 employees and 1 director holds options
to subscribe for up to 260,000 ordinary shares of 1p each at a price of 18.83p exercisable between
2004 and 2008 subject to performance conditions based on the market capitalisation of the
company reaching predetermined levels,

One director hold options from the Unapproved Executive Share Option Scheme 1993, to subscribe
for up to 40,000 ordinary shares of 1p each at a price of 18.83p, exercisable between 2004 and 2008
subject to performance conditions based on the market capitalisation of the company reaching
predetermined fevels.

Under the Unapproved Executive Share Option Scheme 2002, 4 directors and one employee hold
options to subscribe for up to 3,750,000 ordinary shares of 1p each at a price of 10p exercisable
between 2004 and 2014, 150,000 ordinary shares of 1p each at a price of 15p exercisable between
2005 and 2015 and 600,000 ordinary shares of 1p each at a price of 17.75p exercisable between 2006
and 2016. There are no performance conditions on these share optians,

At 31 December 2007, there were 7,250,000 ordinary shares of 1p each registered in the name of The
inveresk ESOP Trustee Company Limited with a market value of £653,000. Of these shares, 4,720,000
with a market value of £425,000 were under option to employees and had vested unconditionally by
the year end. A further 80,000 shares with a market value of £7,000 held by the ESOP trust have not
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yet vested unconditionally in employees. The remaining 2,450,000 shares with a market value of
£221,000 have not been allocated to employees as at 31 December 2007.

These shares are held for the benefit of directors and other executives in order to satisfy
obligations under the Group’s share option schemes. All costs of administering the ESOP have
been charged to the income statement as they arise,

The market prices of the ordinary shares during the year were;

Pence
01 fanuary 2007 {opening) 178
06 June 2007 {high) 180
31 December 2007 {year end) 0.0

Retained earnings
Group Company

£'000 £'000
At 1January 2006 9,765 9,755
Loss for the year (3,016) {3,008}
Credit for employees share awards 23 23
Net actuarial foss recognised in retirement benefit schemes (549) {449)
Exchange adjustments ) -
At 31 December 2006 6,322 6,321
Profit for the year 1,741 1,743
Net actuarial gain recognised in retirement benefit schemes (net of tax} 1,110 1,110
At 31 December 2007 9,173 9,174

Commitments and contingencies

Capital Commitments
There were no capital commitments existing at 31 December 2007 (31 December 2006, £5,000).

QOperating leases

At the balance sheet date the Group and the Company had outstanding commitments for
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of plant and
equipment which fall due as follows:

2007 2006

£'o00 £'o00

Less than one year 2 14
Between one and five years - g
2 19

in addition, rentals payable in the financial year to 31 December 2008 previously held under
operating leases which expire outwith five years in respect of land and buildings amount to
£7,000 {2007; £69,500), These rentals will cease during 2008,
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Contingencies

Under the Agreement relating to the sale of the “Gemini” brand, there is provision for an
additional Consideration payable to Inveresk with the amount being dependent on the level of
sales tonnage achieved by the buyers, Tullis Russell Papermakers Ltd, from g November 2005 to
8 November 2006. This Additional Consideration has been calculated by inveresk to be a
minimum of £909K and Tullis Russell Papermakers Ltd are currently in breach of their abligations
by failing to pay this Additional Consideration. This payment is being vigorously pursued

by Inveresk and on 15 February 2008 and again on 29 August 2008 in the Court of Session in
Edinburgh two different senior commercial judges opined strongly in the favour of Inveresk.
Tullis Russell Papermakers Ltd have declined to accept these judgements and therefore the
matter is currently with the Court of Appeal in Edinburgh for resolution. As a cansequence no
amounts have been recognised in the annual accounts for 2007,

In addition, a number of claims have been raised by Tullis Russell Papermakers Ltd in respect of
faulty paper produced at Carrongrove Mill during a very limited period prior to the closure of
the mill on 8 November 200s. The Directors believe that adequate and full provisionin respect of
these claims has been made in the 2007 accounts.

Retirement benefit schemes

Group and Company

Defined Contribution Schemes

The Inveresk Group Personal Fension and Life Assurance Scheme (“the Insured Scheme?) isa
defined contribution personal pension scheme for employees. The Insured Scheme is an insured
money purchase scheme administered independently from the Group. Contributions are made
by the Group at a rate ranging between 3% and 7% of salary subject to employees’ length of
service and amounted to £111,000 {2006: £129,000).

Contributions amounting to £7,000 (2006: £8,000) were payable to the fund at the year end and
are included within creditors.

Certain Directors and senior employees belong to the Executive Retirement Benefit Scheme
which is also a defined contribution scheme administered independently from the Group. During
the financial year contributions of £5,000 (2006: £5,000) were paid to this scheme.

Defined Benefit Schemes

The Group operates the Inveresk Group Staff Pension Plan {“the Plan”™) which s a defined benefit
scheme with assets held separately from those of the Group and which provides benefits based
on final pensionable earnings. The planis closed to new entrants. As a consequence the current
service cost calculated under the projected unit method can be expected to increase over time,
as the average age of the membership increases.

A full actuarial valuation was carried out at 1 April 2005 and updated for 1AS 19 purposes to
31 December 2007 by a qualified independent actuary.

The Group also operates the Weir Group Pension Scheme (*the Scheme®) which is a defined
benefit pension scheme, with assets held separately from thase of the Group, which provides
benefits based on earnings of members as at 30 June 2000. The scheme was closed to new
entrants from 1 March 2000 and all active members became deferred members at 1 july 2000. No
service charge applies after that date as all members ceased accruing benefits from 1 july 2600.
The fatest full actuarial valuation of the Scheme was carried out as at 5 April 2004 and updated
for 1AS 19 purposes to 31 December 2007 by a qualified independent actuary.

The major assumptions used in the IAS 19 valuations of the inveresk Plan and the Weir Scheme
were:
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Weir Weir Weir Inveresk Inveresk Inveresk
scheme  Scheme  Scheme Plan Plan Plan
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Rate of increase in salaries n/a n/a n/a 3.2% 2.8% 31%
Rate of increasein
deferred pensions 3.2% 2.8% 26% 3.2% 3.0% 3.0%
Rate of increase
in pensions in payment 3.2% 3.0% 3.0% 3.2% 3.0% 3.0%
Discount rate applied
to scheme liabilities 6.0% 53% 4.9% 6.0% 53% 4.9%
Inflation assumption 3.2% 28% 26% 3.2% 2.8% 26%

The assumptions used by the actuaries are the best estimates chosen from a range of possible
actuarial assumptions which, due to the timescale covered, may not necessarily be borne out in
practice,

Scheme Assets

The fair vatue of both schemes’ assets, which are not intended to be realised in the short term
and may be subject to significant change before they are realised, and the present value of the
schemes’liabilities, which are derived from cashflow projections over long periods and thus
inherently uncertain are noted below.

The mortality assumptions adopted at 31 December 2007 imply the following residual life
expectancies,

a) Weir Scheme - at age 63, Males 212 years (2006, 21.2 years)
Femalas 24.2 years (2006, 24,2 years)
b) tnveresk Plan - at age 65, Malas 19.8 years {2006, 19.8 years}
Females 22.8years {2006, 22.8 years)

Group and Company

Inveresk Plan
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows

2007 2006

£'000 £'000
Present value of funded obligations (29,234)  {31,320)
Fair value of plan assets 37,285 38,454
Surplusin the scheme 8,151 7,134
Non - recoverable surplus {7,305) {5,724)
Total recoverable surplus 846 1,410
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Movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligation

2007 2006

£'000 £'000

Defined benefit obligation at 1 January 31,320 33,951
Current service cost 103 132
Interest cost 1,605 1,630
Contribution by plan participants 30 40
Actuarial gain {1,724) (2,876)
Benefits paid and death in service insurance premiums {2,200) (1,557}
Defined benefit obligation at 31 December - Inveresk Plan 29,134 31,320

Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the market value of Plan assets

2007 2006

£'000 £'000

Fair value of assets at 1 january 38,454 38,052

Expected return on assets 2,054 1,876

Actuarial losses {1,134) (58)

Contributions by employer 81 101

Contributions by plan participants 30 40

Benefits paid and death in service insurance premiums (2,200} {(1,557)

Fair value of assets at 31 December - Inveresk Plan 37,285 38,454
Movement of non-recoverable pension surplus

2007 2006

£'000 £'000

Non-recoverable surplus at 1 January (5,724) (997)

Increase in non-recoverable surplus (1,581} {4,727)

Non-recoverable surplus at 31 December - Inveresk Plan {7,305} (5,724)

The vafue of scheme assets is impacted by the asset ceiling test which restricts the surplus that
can be recognised to assets that can be recovered fully through refunds or reductions in future
contributiens.

The expected long term rates of return and value of Plan assets are as follows

2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 20065

% % % £’000 £'000 £'000

Equities 7.6% 7.6% 7.1% 9,629 10,146 9,844
Gilts* 4.6% 4.7% 4.1% 21,010 24,186 24,696
Corporate Bonds * 6.0% - - 3,483 - -
Property 7.6% 7.6% 7.1% 1,795 2,187 1,876
Other {Cash) 4.6% 4.6% 4.1% 1,368 1,935 1,636
Total 5.7% 5.6% 5.0% 37,285 38,454 38,052

* Gilts and Corporate bonds were combined as ‘Fixed Interest’ in both 2006 and 2005, with a single

overall assumption applying for the expected lang term rate of return on this asset category.
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Employer contributions are currently paid at the rate of 14% of Pensionable Salaries less the
employee contribution. Employee’s contributions are payable at the rate of 3% of Pensionable

salaries up to the Upper Earnings Limit and 7% above the Upper Earnings Limit.

Expense recognised in income statement

2007 2006
£'000 £'000
Current service cost (note 7) 103 132
Interest on obligations (note 4) 1,605 1,630
Expected return on plan assets {note 4} {2,054} {1,876)
Total income (346) {114)
Gains/(losses) recognised in statement of recognised income and expense
2007 2006
£000 £'000
Difference between expected and actual return on scheme assets:
Amount (1,134) 56
Percentage of scheme assets 3.0% 0.1%
Experience gains and losses arising on the scheme liabilities:
Amount (298) 568
Percentage of present value of scheme liabiiities -1.0% 18%
Effects of changes in the demographic and financiat assumptions
underlying the present value of the scheme fiabilities:
Amount 2,022 2,308
Percentage of present value of scheme liabilities 6.9% 7.4%
Effects of limit on recoverable surplus:
Amount {1,583} {4,727)
Percentage of present value of scheme liabilities -5.4% -15.1%
Total amount recognised in statement of recognised income and expense:
Amount (992} {1,795)
Percentage of present value of scheme liabilities -3.4% -5.7%
Historical information
2007 2006 2005
£'000 £'000 £'000
Fair value of plan assets 37,285 38,454 38,052
Defined benefit obligation (29,134) (31,3200 (33,951
Surpiusin Plan 8,151 7,134 4,101
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2007 2006 2005
£'000 £'000 £'o00

Experience adjustmentarising on plan assets {(1,134) 56 3,071
Experience adjustment arising on plan liabilities {298) 568 (1,184}
Effects of changes in the demographic and financial assumptions
underlying the present value of the pian liabilities 2,022 2,308 (3,690)
Weir Scheme
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows

2007 2006

£'000 £’'000
Present value of funded cbligations (23,825) {26,330}
Fair value of plan assets 24,108 23,539
surplus in scheme/(present value of unfunded obligations) 280 {2,791)
Non - recoverable surplus {280} -
Total present value of unfunded obligations - {2,791)
Movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligation

2007 2006

£'000 £000
Defined benefit obligation at 1 January 26,330 27,033
interest cost 1,374 1,308
Actuarial gain (3,082) (1,339)
Benefits paid and death in service insurance premiums {797) {672)
Defined benefit obligation at 31 December - Weir scheme 23,826 26,330
Reconciliation of opening and closing balances of the market value of Scheme assets

2007 2006

£000 £’000
Fair value of assets at start of year 23,539 22,334
Expected return on assets 1,227 1,156
Actuarial {losses)/gains {464) 121
Contributions by employer 600 600
Benefits paid and death in service insurance premiums {797) (672)
Fair value of assets at the end of year- Weir scheme 24,105 23,539
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Movement of non-recoverable pension surplus
2007 2006
£'000 £'000
Nan-recoverable surplus at 1 January - -
Increase in non-recoverable surplus {280) -
Non-recoverable surplus at 31 December - Weir scheme (280) -

The value of scheme assets is impacted by the asset ceiling test which restricts the surplus that
can be recognised to assets that can be recovered fully through refunds or reductions in future
contributions.

The expected long term rates of return and value of Plan assets are as follows

2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005

£'000 £'000 £'000

Equities 7.6% 7.6% 71% 6,721 7,106 7,201
Gilts 4.6% 4.6% 4.1% 10,169 9,364 8,739
Corporate Bonds 6.0% 5.3% £.9% 7,207 7,052 6,380
Other (Cash) 4.6% 4.6% 4.1% 8 17 14
Total 5.9% 57% 53% 24,105 23,539 22,334

Expense recognised in income statement

2007 2006

£'000 £'o00

Interest on obligations (note 4) 1374 1,308
Expected return on plan assets {note 4) (1,227) (1,156}
Total expense 147 152
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Galns/(losses) recognised in statement of recognised income and expense

2007 2006
£'000 £'000
Difference between expected and actual return on scheme assets:
Amount (464) 121
Percentage of scheme assets 19% 0.5%
Experience gains and losses arising on the scheme liabilities:
Amount 488 (1)
Percentage of present value of scheme liabilities 2.0% 0.0%
Effects of changes in the demographic and financial assumptions
underlying the present value of the scheme liabilities:
Amaount 2,594 1,340
Percentage of present value of scheme liabilities 10.9% 5.1%
Effects of limit on recoverable surplus;
Amount (280) -
Percentage of present value of scheme liabilities 12% 0.0%
Total amount recognised in statement of recognised income and expense:
Amount 2,338 1,460
Percentage of present value of scheme liabilities 9.8% 55%
Historical information
2007 2006 2005
£'000 £'000 £'o00
Fair value of plan assets 24,105 23,539 22,334
Defined benefit obligation (23,825) {26,330) (27,033)
surptus/deficit}in Plan 280 (2,791) {4,699)
2007 2006 2005
£'000 £'000 £'000
Experience adjustment arising on plan assets (564) 121 1,548
Experience adjsutment arising on plan liabilities 488 (2) 330
Effects of changes in the demographic and financial
assumptions underlying the present value of the
plan liabilities 2,594 1,340 {2,556}
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Explanation of transition to adopted tFRSs

This is the Groups first IFRS annuat consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance
with adopted IFRSs.

The accounting policies in note 1 have been applied in preparing these financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2007, the year ended 31 December 2006 and in the preparation of an
opening IFRS balance sheet at 1 january 2006, the Group and Company’s date of transition.

in preparing its opening IFRS balance sheet and financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2006 the Group has adjusted amounts reported previously in financial statements
prepared in accordance with previous GAAF.

IFRS 1 allows first time adopters certain exemptions from the general requirements to
retrospectively apply IFRS as effective for the 31 December 2005 year end. The optional
exemptions taken by the Group are as follows.

Fixed Asset revaluation as deemed cost
Revaluation of property under previous UK GAAP has been used as deemed cost on transition to
IFRS.

Employee benefits
The Group has elected to recognise all cumulative actuarial gains and losses from employee
benefit schemes at the date of transition.

Business Combinations
The Group has elected not to apply IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ retrospectively to transactions
that took place prior to the transition date,

Foreign currency translation
Cumulative translation differences in respect of foreign operations have been deemed to be nil at
the date of transition.

Group and Company

An explanation of how the transition from previous GAAP to adopted IFRSs has affected the
Group and Company financial position, financial performance and cash flows is set out in the
following tables and the notes that accompany the tables.

The IFRS balance sheets prepared on transition to adopted IFRSs as at 1 January 2006 and
31 December 2006 and presented in these financial statements and notes to the accounts, differ
to those reported in the Interim Accounts for the six months ended 30 June 2007 as a result of,

a) showing deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilties separately in these financial statements
and notes to the accounts, and

b} using more detailed information which has become available regarding the properties held by
the Group and Company, which has removed the temporary differences previously calculated on
those assets.

Similarly, differences in the reconciliation of profit for the year ended 31 December 2006 under
adopted |FRSs between these financial statements and notes to the accounts and the Interim
Accounts for the six months ended 30 june 2007 are due to the same changes to the reporting and
calculation of deferred tax assets and liabilities as above.
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Reconciliation of equity at 1 January 2006 and 31 December 2006 - Group

Effect of Effectof
transition transition
GAAP  tOIFRSs IFRS GAAP  tOIFRSS IFRS
1january 2006 31 December 2006

Note £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 €000 £'000
Assets
Property, plant
and equipment a 10,410 (2,326} 8,084 9,708  (2,125) 7,583
Deferred tax asset d - 367 367 - 367 367
Total non-current assets 10,410 (1,959) 8,451 9,708 (1,758} 7,950
Inventories 2,989 - 2,989 2,619 - 2,619
Trade and other receivables 5,462 - 5462 3,231 - 3,231
Retirement benefit assets ¢ 2,173 931 3,104 g87 423 1,410
Cash and cash equivalents 16 - 16 A - fA
Assets classified
as held far sale a 10,005 2,326 12,331 10,005 2,126 12,130
Total current assets 20,645 3,257 23,902 16,846 2,548 19,394
Total assets 31,055 1,298 32,353 26,554 790 27,344
Equity
Share Capital 1,438 - 1,438 1,438 - 1,438
Reserves b 11,220 (11,220} - 11,170 (11,170) -
Retained earnings b {1,455) 11,220 9,765 (4,848) 11,170 6,322
Total equity 11,203 - 12,203 7,760 - 7,760
Liabilities
Interest bearing
loans and barrowings 5,538 - 5,538 4,308 -~ 4,308
Retirement benefit
obligations c 3,768 931 4,699 2,368 423 2,791
Deferred tax
liabilities d - 367 67 - 367 367
Total non-current
liabilities 9,306 1,298 10,604 6,676 790 7,466
Bank overdraft 2,692 - 2,692 7,218 - 7,218
interest bearing
loans and borrowings 1,231 - 1231 1,231 - 1,231
Trade and other payables 6,048 - 6,048 3,229 - 3,229
Provisions 575 - 575 L40 - 440
Total current liabilities 10,546 - 10,546 12,118 - 12118
Total liabilities 19,862 1,208 21,150 18,794 790 19,584
Total equity and liabilities 31,055 1,298 32,353 26,554 790 27,344
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Notes to the reconciliation of equity

{a) Plant, machinery and equipment associated with the discontinued operations of the fine papers
division and the ‘Gemini’ paperboard business have been reclassified as ‘assets held for sale’

(b) Therevaluation reserve containing the increases and decreasesin revaluations prior to1)anuary
2006 under UK GAAP, has been transferred to equity following the option to record assets at the
transition date on the basis of deemed cost.

{(c) Deferred tax previously netted off within retirement benefit schemes within assets and liabilities
is now excluded from the retirement benefit scheme assets and liabilities and is included within
deferred tax assets and deferred taxliabilities as appropriate.

(d) Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised on adoption of IAS 12 income taxes’ on all
temporary differences and certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset.

Reconciliation of profit for the year ended 31 December 2006 - Group

Effect of
transition to
UK GAAP IFRS IFRS

For the year ended 31 December 2006

Note £000 £'o00 £'000
Continuing operations
Revenue 13,304 - 13,304
Cost of Sales {12,925) - {12,925)
Gross Profit 379 - 379
Distribution expenses {856) - {856)
Administrative expenses : {1,525} - (1,525)
Administrative expenses - restructuring costs {594) - (594)
Results from operating activities {2,596) - (2,596)
Finance income a 127 1,530 1,657
Finance expenses a {119} (1,431) (2,550)
Net finance income 8 99 107
Loss before income tax (2,588) 99 (2,489)
Income tax 769 - 769
Loss from continuing operations (1,819) 99 {(1,720)
Discontinued operations
Loss from discontinued operations,
net of income tax a {1,311) 15 {1,296)
Loss forthe year {3,130 114 (3,016)

Notes to the reconciliation of profit

{a) Under UK GAAP a restriction was put on the expected rate of return from a defined benefit
pension scheme which is not applied under IAS 19 ‘Employee benefits’. The effect of this
adjustment is to reduce the loss for the twelve months ended 31 December 2006 by £114,000.
This adjustment is allocated on the basis of £99,000 to continuing operations and £15,000to
discontinued operations. There is no effect an the asset or liability recognised for the pension
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scheme as there is an equal and opposite actuarial loss recognised in the consolidated statement
of recognised income and expense.

Finance income and finance expenses are adjusted to present the expected return on defined

benefit plan assets and interest on defined benefit obligations on separate lines, together with
interest receivable on funds invested and interest payable on borrowings respectively (note 4).

There are no material adjustments to the cash flow statement of the Group arising from the
transition to, and adoption of, International Financial Reporting Standards,

Company

The adopted IFRS policies of the Company are identical to those of the Group where applicable,

An explanation of how the transition from previous GAAP to adopted IFRSs has affected the
Company financial position, financial performance and cash flows is set out in the following tables

and the notes that accompany the tables.

Reconciliation of equity at 1 January 2006 and 31 December 2006 - Company

Effect of Effect of
transition transition
GAAP  tolIFRSs IFRS GAAP  toIFRSs IFRS
1january 2006 31 December 2006

£'000 £'000 £ono £000 £'000 £000
Assets
Property, plant
and equipment 16,410 (2,326) 8,084 9,708 (2,125) 7,583
Investments 6,928 - 6,928 6,928 ~ 6,928
Deferred tax asset - 367 367 - 367 367
Tatal non-current assets 17,338 (1,959) 15,379 16,636 {1,758} 14,878
Inventories 2,589 - 2,989 2,619 - 2,619
Trade and other receivables 5,460 - 5,460 3,230 - 3,230
Retirement benefit assets 2,173 931 3,104 987 423 1,410
Cash and cash eguivalents 2 - 2 4 - 4
Assets classified
as held for sale 10,005 2326 12,331 10,005 2,125 12,130
Total current assets 20,629 3,257 23,886 16,845 2,548 19,393
Total assets 37,967 1,298 39,265 33,481 790 34271
Equity
Share Capital 1,438 - L438 1,438 - 1,438
Reserves i1,220  (131,220) - 11,170 {13,170} -
Retained earnings (1.465) 11220 9,75% (4,849) 11,170 6,321
Total equity 11,193 - 11,193 7.759 - 7,759
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Effect of tffectof
transition transition
GAAP  toIFRSs tFRS GAAP  toIFRSS IFRS
1January 2006 31 December 2006

Note 000 £'000 £'oo00 000 £000 £'o00
Liabilities
Interest bearing
loans and borrowings 5,538 - 5538 4,308 - 4,308
Retirement benefit
obligations c 3,768 931 4,699 2,368 423 2,791
Deferred tax liabilities d - 367 367 - 367 367
Total non-current
liabilities 9,306 1,268 10,604 6,676 790 7,466
Bank overdraft 2,692 - 2,692 7,219 - 7,219
interest bearing
loans and borrowings 1,231 - 1,23 1,231 - 1,231
Trade and other payables 12,970 - 12970 10,156 - 10,156
Provisions 575 - 575 440 - 440
Total current liabilities 17,468 - 17,468 19,046 - 14,046
Total tiabilities 26,774 1,298 28,072 25,722 790 26,512
Total equity and liabilities 37,967 1,298 39,265 33,481 790 34,271

Notes to the reconciliation of equity
{a) Plant, machinery and equipment associated with the discontinued operations of the fine papers
division and the ‘Gemini’ paperboard business have been reclassified as ‘assets held for sale’.

(b) The revaluation reserve containing the incraases and decreases in revaluations prior to 1]anuary
2006 under UK GAAP, has been transferred to equity following the option to record assets at the
transition date on the basis of deemed cost.

{c} Deferred tax previously netted off within retirement benefit schemes within assets and liabilities
is now excluded from the retirement benefit scheme assets and liabilities and is included within

deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities as appropriate.

{d) Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised on adoption of IAS 12 ‘Income taxes’ on al!
temporary differences and certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset.

Reconciliation of profit for the year ended 31 December 2006 - Company
The income statement/profit of the Company can be reconciled as follows:

£'000
UK GAAP loss after tax for the year ending 31 December 2006 (3,122}
add, reversal of restriction on expected rate of return on defined retirement benefit
scheme which is not apptied under 1AS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ 114
Adopted IFRS profit after tax for the year ended 31 December 2006 {(3,008)
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There are no material adjustments to the cash flow statement of the Campany arising from the

transition to, and adoption of, International Financial Reporting Standards.

Cash flows from discontinued operations

Group and Company 2007 2006
£'000 £'000
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/{loss) for the year from discontinued operations 4,054  {1,296)
Adjustments for:
Net finance expense 631 751
Gain on sale of assets {5.047) (100)
Income tax credit {367} {378}
Pensions service charge net of contributions {600) (600}
Changein working capital 84 360
Change in provisions {168) {116)
Interest paid {659} {611}
Discontinued operations - net cash used in operating activities (2,072} (1,990}
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of assets 11,225 126
Discontinued operations - net cash from investing activities 11,225 126
Discontinued operations - net increase/{decrease)
in cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 9,153  (1,864)
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Accounting estimates and judgements

Critical accounting judgemants and key sources of estimation uncertainty

fn the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management necessarily makes
judgements and estimates that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements. Changes in the assumptions underlying the estimates could resultin a
significant impact to the financial statements, The most critical of these accounting judgement
and estimation areas are noted below.

Employee benefits - defined benefit pensions

The determination of the Group’s obligations and expense for defined benefit pensions is
dependent on the selection, by the Board of directors, of assumptions used by the pension
scheme actuary in calculating these amounts. The assumptions applied are described in note

24 and include, amongst others, the discount rate, the expected return on plan assets, rates

of increase in salaries and mortality rates, While the directors consider that the assumptions

are appropriate, significant differences in the actual experience or significant changes in
assumptions may materially affect the amount of the Group’s future pension obligations,
actuarial gains and losses included in the statement of recognised income and expense in future
years and the future service charges. The carrying amount of the liability and assets for defined
benefit obligations as at 31 December 2007 are shown in note 24.

Defined benefit pension schemes - pensions non-recoverable surplus

The value of scheme assets is impacted by the asset ceiling test which restricts the surplus that
can be recognised to assets that can be recovered fully through refunds or reductions in future
contributions.

Assets held for sale

Whilst assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell, the amounts measured and presented in the balance sheet as ‘Assets held
for sale’ may not reflect the amounts which may be realised from the safe of such assets as the
directors of the Company seek to maximise the return for shareholders.

Events after the Balance Sheet Date

On 1July 2008 the Group announced the closure of its Preimpregnated Paper (PIP) business at its
St Cuthberts Mill in Somerset and its withdrawal from the décor paper market. This decision will
result in the redundancy of approximately 50 of the workforce at an estimated cost of slightly
over £500,000 and will largely stem the operating losses which have been experienced by St
Cuthberts Mill for some time. Revenue assaciated with the PIP business was £10,196,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2007 (2006: £10,35€,000).

The Group has also signed a Letter of Intent to enter into a Joint Venture agreement with a
Chinese paper-making company to manufacture PIP in China. This will involve the relocation
of the PM1machine at St Cuthberts on which PIP was manufactured, and this machine together
with the Group’s technical expertise and customer base will represent the value of the Group’s
equity investment in the Joint Venture.
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